From the Department of Cell and Molecular Biology Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

ON ASTROCYTES AND NEURAL STEM CELLS: A STUDY OF REACTIVE AND CANONICAL NEUROGENESIS

Margherita Zamboni



Stockholm 2021

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet.

Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB, 2021

© Margherita Zamboni, 2021

ISBN 978-91-8016-447-4

Cover illustration: Sagittal section of the adult mouse brain illustrating sites of canonical neurogenesis. Astrocytes are labelled in red and doublecortin-expressing neuroblasts are in green. All cell nuclei are marked in blue.

On Astrocytes and Neural Stem Cells: A Study of Reactive and Canonical Neurogenesis

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

Margherita Zamboni

Public Defense on Friday, January 14th, 2022 at 09:00 At Eva & George Klein Biomedicum Lecture Hall, Solnavägen 9, Solna

Principal Supervisor:
Professor Jonas Frisén
Karolinska Institutet
Department of Cell and Molecular Biology

Co-supervisor: Professor András Simon

Karolinska Institutet Department of Cell and Molecular Biology Opponent:

Assistant Professor Shane Liddelow NYU Grossman School of Medicine Department of Neuroscience and Physiology

Examination Board:

Associate Professor Qiaolin Deng

Karolinska Institutet

Department of Physiology and Pharmacology

Professor Sten Linnarsson Karolinska Institutet

Department of Medical Biochemistry and

Biophysics

Division of Molecular Neurobiology

Associate Professor Henrik Ahlenius

Lund University

Department of Clinical Sciences

Division of Neurology

To Oliver.

I hope you'll find your passions in life.

And as Nonno and Nonna did for me,

I will do everything in my power to help you chase your dreams.

POPULAR SCIENCE SUMMARY OF THE THESIS

The mammalian brain and spinal cord are particularly inefficient at repairing themselves after injury. A traumatic lesion to the brain can lead to extensive death of neurons, which are never replaced. The poor regenerative capacity of these cells is at the basis of the lifelong neurological symptoms seen in patients who suffered brain damage. Thus, the ultimate objective of regenerative medicine approaches is to promote replacement of the cells lost to injury in order to aid recovery of function. Several sources for neuronal cell replacement are currently being explored. Transplantation of cells derived from external sources is showing promising results in pre-clinical settings and is now being tested in patients. This approach, however, comes with risks and warrants research towards attempting to recruit and repurpose cells that are already found in the injured brain. Small populations of neural stem cells that generate new neurons throughout life do exist, but their restricted population size limits the extent to which these cells can be utilized for replacing vast number of lost neurons. Astrocytes represent an attractive alternative for the generation of new neurons after injury because they are abundantly found throughout the brain and share several molecular and functional characteristics with adult neural stem cells. Work presented in this thesis aims at demonstrating that astrocytes can be considered as a latent source of neural stem cells, which can be recruited under the right conditions to replace lost neurons. We, furthermore, provide extensive characterization of neural stem cells and their progeny (i.e., neural progenitors and immature neurons) from the human brain, which will, in the future, represent a valuable resource to identify what cellular mechanisms could be targeted in order to promote more efficient regenerative repair.

ABSTRACT

The mammalian central nervous system has limited regenerative capacity and the long-lasting functional impairment resulting from trauma and neurodegenerative disease derives from a failure to repopulate neuronal cell populations that are lost to injury. The studies included in the present thesis aim at proposing astrocytes as a novel source for achieving widespread replacement of neurons. Central to this work are notions within the field of astrocyte biology, adult neurogenesis, and regenerative medicine, which are discussed in the literature review.

Astrocytes are an abundant cell population that supports neuronal development, survival and activity in health and participate in inflammation and injury resolution in disease. Learning about astrocyte biology allows us to develop tools for selectively targeting these cells or their specific functions. It will also help us learn about heterogeneous subtypes with distinctive functional properties or differential potential for regenerative repair.

Adult neurogenesis is the process through which new neurons are added throughout life to a pre-existing neural circuitry. This process has been extensively explored in model organisms, but it has been challenging to achieve the same level of resolution and detail for the study of human neurogenesis. It is nevertheless important to identify and characterize neurogenic cells in the human brain and investigate their functional impact on cognition, as well as how their dysregulation may be linked to neurodegenerative and psychiatric diseases. In the context of this thesis, learning about the molecular dynamics driving neurogenesis allowed us to demonstrate that astrocytes, once recruited, unfold a process of differentiation like that seen in neural stem cells (**Paper I** and **Paper II**). We, furthermore, profiled the transcriptome of young and adult human hippocampal cells and depicted, for the first time, a comprehensive molecular framework that describes the neurogenic program in the human dentate gyrus (**Paper III**).

Cell replacement therapies are obtaining promising results in pre-clinical settings and are starting to be successfully used in patients to replace specific cell populations depleted due to neurodegeneration or injury. The present thesis discusses the two main strategies to approach cell replacement, namely transplantation and recruitment of endogenous cells with stem cell properties. The latter has gained momentum in recent years to overcome limitations characteristic of cell transplantation. Work within this thesis is aimed in this direction and provides evidence that parenchymal astrocytes can be considered latent neural stem cells and can be recruited to replace neurons after injury (Paper I and Paper II).

From the methodological point of view, genomics technologies and computational approaches are important concepts to this thesis and have been applied, here, to study canonical and reactive neurogenesis. Published single-cell omics data across organs, developmental times, and species have enabled comprehensive investigations of cell processes and interactions that had remained until now elusive. Here, we leveraged transcriptome-wide analysis to investigate the molecular dynamics underlying astrocyte-mediated neurogenesis in the striatum (**Paper I**) and the cortex (**Paper II**), and to study human hippocampal neurogenesis with an unparalleled

level of detail, which we used to identify markers of neural progenitors and to compare molecular processes across species (Paper III).

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- I. Magnusson, J. P., Zamboni, M.*, Santopolo, G.*, Mold, J. E., Barrientos-Somarribas, M., Talavera-Lopez, C., Andersson, B., & Frisen, J. (2020). Activation of a neural stem cell transcriptional program in parenchymal astrocytes. *Elife*, 9. doi:10.7554/eLife.59733
- II. Zamboni, M., Llorens-Bobadilla, E., Magnusson, J. P., & Frisen, J. (2020). A Widespread Neurogenic Potential of Neocortical Astrocytes Is Induced by Injury. Cell Stem Cell, 27(4), 605-617. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2020.07.006
- III. Dumitru I.*, Paterlini M.*, Zamboni M.‡, Ziegenhain C.‡, Tata M., Giatrellis S., Alkass K., Druid H., Sandberg R., & Frisén J. Delineation of a neurogenic cell trajectory in the human hippocampus (*Manuscript*)

SCIENTIFIC PAPERS NOT INCLUDED IN THE THESIS

- I. Mold J. E.*, Modolo L.*, Hård J.#, Zamboni M.#, Larsson A. J. M., Stenudd M., Eriksson C. J., Durif G., Ståhl P. L., Borgström E., Picelli S., Reinius B., Sandberg R., Réu P., Talavera-Lopez C., Andersson B., Blom K., Sandberg J. K., Picard F., Michaëlsson J., Frisén J. (2021). Divergent clonal differentiation trajectories establish CD8+ memory T cell heterogeneity during acute viral infections in humans. *Cell Rep*, 35(8):109174. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109174
- II. Kvastad, L., Carlberg, K., Larsson, L., Villacampa, E. G., Stuckey, A., Stenbeck, L., Mollbrink, A., Zamboni, M., Magnusson, J. P., Basmaci, E., Shamikh, A., Prochazka, G., Schaupp, A. L., Borg, A., Fugger, L., Nister, M., & Lundeberg, J. (2021). The spatial RNA integrity number assay for in situ evaluation of transcriptome quality. *Commun Biol*, 4(1), 57. doi:10.1038/s42003-020-01573-1
- III. **Zamboni, M.**, Santopolo, G., & Frisen, J. (2020). Induction of Leptomeningeal Cells Modification Via Intracisternal Injection. *J Vis Exp* (159). doi:10.3791/61009
- IV. Llorens-Bobadilla, E., Chell, J. M., Le Merre, P., Wu, Y., Zamboni, M., Bergenstrahle, J., Stenudd, M., Sopova, E., Lundeberg, J., Shupliakov, O., Carlen, M., & Frisen, J. (2020). A latent lineage potential in resident neural stem cells enables spinal cord repair. *Science*, 370(6512). doi:10.1126/science.abb8795

CONTENTS

1	Intro	oduction	1
2	Astr	rocytes in health and disease	4
	2.1	Astrocyte heterogeneity	5
	2.2	Reactive gliosis	7
3	Adu	ılt neurogenesis	10
	3.1	Canonical neurogenesis	11
	3.2	Functional impact of adult-born neurons	13
	3.3	Reactive neurogenesis	15
4	Cell	l replacement and regeneration	18
	4.1	Replacement therapy using cell transplantation	19
	4.2	Endogenous sources for regenerative repair	21
5	Rese	earch aims	24
6	Metl	thods	25
	6.1	Models and tools to study astrocyte biology	25
	6.2	Models and tools to study adult neurogenesis	26
	6.3	Single-cell transcriptomics	27
7	Resu	ults and Discussion	30
	7.1	Paper I	30
		7.1.1 Summary of the results	30
		7.1.2 Discussion for Paper I	30
	7.2	Paper II	31
		7.2.1 Summary of the results	31
		7.2.2 Discussion for Paper II	31
	7.3 Paper III		
		7.3.1 Summary of the results	32
		7.3.2 Discussion for Paper III	32
8	Cone	nclusions	34
9	Ackı	knowledgements	35
10	Refe	erences	36

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AAV Adenoassociated virus

Aqp4 Aquaporin 4

Ascl1 Achaete-Scute Family bHLH Transcription Factor 1

BMP Bone morphogenic protein

CA1-3 Cornu ammonis

Dlk-1 Delta Like Non-Canonical Notch Ligand 1

Dlx2 Distal-Less Homeobox 2

Egf Epidermal growth factor

GABA Gamma-aminobutyric acid

Gfap Glial fibrillary acidic protein

hESCs Human embryonic stem cells

Igfl Insulin-like growth factor 1

Il6 Interleukin 6

iPSCs Induced pluripotent stem cells

Mki67 Marker of proliferation Ki-67

NeuroD1 Neuronal Differentiation 1

Neurog2 Neurogenin 2

NG2 Neural/glial antigen 2

Pax6 Paired box 6

Pcna Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen

PSA Polysialic acid

scRNA-seq Single-cell RNA-sequencing

Shh Sonic hedgehog

snRNA-seq Single-nucleus RNA-sequencing

Stat3 Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3

TGFb Transforming growth factor beta

UMAP Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection

1 INTRODUCTION

The mammalian central nervous system has limited regenerative capacity following injury, and damage can lead to functional impairment that is never fully overcome. Populations of specialized astrocytes that act as adult neural stem cells exist in specific regions of the mammalian brain, where they contribute to lifelong addition of new neurons, through a process called adult neurogenesis (Doetsch et al., 1999; Kriegstein and Alvarez-Buylla, 2009). These cells can also respond to injury by increasing their proliferation and migrating towards sites of damage (Arvidsson et al., 2002; Gotts and Chesselet, 2005; Kaneko et al., 2018; Yan et al., 2018). Their contribution to regenerative repair is, however, very limited due to their small population size. Parenchymal astrocytes, on the other hand, make up about half of all neural cells and they are found throughout the brain and spinal cord. Our studies in Paper I and Paper II have shown that parenchymal astrocytes may act as latent neural stem cells whose neurogenic potential can be unlocked following injury or through genetic manipulation of signaling pathways known to be implicated in neuronal cell fate specification. Our work suggests that astrocytes may be a valuable endogenous resource for replacing neurons lost to injury and that learning the molecular profiles of astrocytes committed to the lineage transition can help us harness a greater regenerative potential. The present thesis discusses the importance of astrocyte biology in health and disease, and it goes on to explore the body of research pertaining to adult neurogenesis. Finally, it reviews current strategies to leverage our knowledge in the field of astrocyte and neural stem cell biology in order to promote regenerative repair in the injured brain.

Astrocytes undertake a wide range of functions in the intact brain that ensure wellbeing and correct activity of neuronal cells (Barres, 2008). Interestingly, there is accumulating evidence suggesting that, similar to the diverse collection of neuronal subtypes, astrocytes, too, are a widely heterogeneous population (Bayraktar et al., 2020; Khakh and Deneen, 2019). This raises questions of whether all astrocytes are equally capable of displaying the full repertoire of glial functions. Particularly relevant for the present research, is the question of whether all astrocytes retain the potential to generate neurons. Interestingly, we have detected some differences in the stimuli required to activate the neurogenic program between subcortical (Paper I) and cortical astrocytes (Paper II). Nevertheless, we were able to demonstrate a widespread potential to generate neurons, which is preserved in astrocytes from different cortical regions, as well as throughout the cortical layers (Paper II). Astrocytes also partake during injury and disease where they undergo morphological changes and gain functions of reactive cells (Sofroniew, 2020). In the context of traumatic injury, astrocytes proliferate and contribute to the formation of a scar to contain damage (Wahane and Sofroniew, 2021). Other aspects of gliosis are, instead, displayed in infections and neurodegenerative diseases, such as the release of neurotoxins that kill the neighboring neurons (Guttenplan et al., 2021; Liddelow et al., 2017). Our analysis explored the molecular profiles of astrocytes as they commit to the neuronal lineage fate and revealed that neurogenesis in the injured cortex unfolds independently of reactive gliosis (Paper II). Astrocytes that display reactive morphological and transcriptional

changes are, in fact, rarely associated with the activation of pro-neuronal transcription factors, which suggests that the neurogenic program may be hindered in this cell state.

Neural stem cells are specialized astrocytes (Kriegstein and Alvarez-Buylla, 2009) that exist throughout life but are restricted to two small regions of the mammalian brain, namely the subventricular zone and the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (Gould, 2007). Stem cells in the subventricular zone give rise to migratory neural progenitors that innervate distinct regions in different mammalian species. Mouse neuroblasts, for instance, target the olfactory bulb (Belluzzi et al., 2003), whereas human neuroblasts mature into striatal interneurons (Ernst et al., 2014). The lower reliance of humans on olfaction may explain why neuroblasts have been redirected to the striatum, a region of the brain important for movement coordination, but also higher cognitive functions and affection regulation. In the hippocampus, adult-born granule neurons that are added to the dentate gyrus are crucial for memory formation and learning (Akers et al., 2014; Clelland et al., 2009). Although adult hippocampal neurogenesis has been shown across mammalian species, and their occurrence in humans validated using several independent measurements, a recent study has raised controversy proposing that human neurogenesis would not endure into adulthood (Sorrells et al., 2018). Demonstration of neurogenesis relied on the ability to detect specific marker proteins expressed in immature neurons. These proteins are, however, quickly degraded with increasing postmortem delay and protocols used to visualize them can be complex, particularly when using specimens from adult brains (Kempermann et al., 2018). Thus, failure of this study to demonstrate the presence of neuroblasts rather reflects the technical challenges characteristic of working with human postmortem tissue and expresses the need for finding additional ways to follow the addition of new neurons to the hippocampus. In Paper III, we used single-nucleus RNA-sequencing (snRNA-seq) to profile cells of the human dentate gyrus across ages and provided an in-depth characterization of the neurogenic trajectory. Furthermore, we compared neurogenic programs between human and mouse, to learn the extent to which the molecular profiles of neural progenitors overlap. Our study will provide a resource for better understanding the differentiation trajectory of human neural stem cells and expand the collections of cell type markers to detect the presence of neurogenic cells in the human brain. Importantly, transcriptomics analysis offers a more complete molecular framework that characterize neural stem cells and their lineage commitment. This, in turn, may allow us to identify potential regulators of neurogenesis that could be targeted to unlock the neurogenic potential of facultative stem cells, such as parenchymal astrocytes, to promote regeneration in widespread areas of the brain after injury.

Brain injuries and neurodegenerative diseases display complex and distinct pathophysiological profiles but tend to share aspects of neuronal death that are at the basis of their long-lasting functional impairment. Efforts of regenerative medicine are aimed at replacing cells lost to injury in the hope to achieve recovery of function. Two main strategies are explored towards this end, namely the replacement of neurons through cell transplantation and recruitment of resident cells with regenerative potential. Transplantation approaches have proven promising and are currently being explored in clinical trials (Parmar et al., 2020). There are, however,

limitations and risks associated with these therapies, which have encouraged efforts towards trying to harness the regenerative potential of endogenous cells (Parmar et al., 2020). Our work in Paper I and Paper II moves in this direction, proposing that astrocytes may be a valuable alternative source of latent stem cells that can generate new neurons in the injured brain. Strategies that leverage endogenous sources for cell replacement overcome some of the shortcomings of cell transplantation, but there is still a lot of work to be done to (1) improve efficiency of the conversion from the original cell; (2) demonstrate integration of the newly generated neurons and functional impact of their contribution; and (3) develop safe and effective therapeutic strategies to recruit the latent stem cells into regenerative programs. Single-cell transcriptomic analysis can be leveraged to explore the molecular dynamics driving lineage fate switch and instruct search for regulators of this phenomenon (Kamimoto et al., 2020). Particularly interesting, in this sense, is the study of cells that fail to turn on the neurogenic program, and comparing these to successfully activated cells can help identifying factors we can target to achieve greater recruitment. In Paper I, we show that many striatal astrocytes initiate upregulation of pro-neuronal programs but fail to commit to the transition before entering cell division. Forcing cells into the cell cycle was, however, sufficient to allow them to complete the transition. Gene editing tools, such as the CRISPR-Cas9 system, and virus-mediated delivery of genetic material hold great promises for the development of therapeutic strategies to achieve specific and efficient gene expression manipulation (Dahlman et al., 2015; Zhou et al., 2018). To promote replacement of neurons lost to injury, these technologies can be adapted to drive expression of the regulators of cell fate switch (Liu et al., 2018; Russo et al., 2021), in order to activate regenerative programs in larger numbers of resident cells and, ultimately, achieve greater recovery (Zhou et al., 2020).

2 ASTROCYTES IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

"What could hold these tiny, isolated, flexible, very delicate cells, much more delicate and smaller than the nerve cells?"

— Ramón y Cajal, 1895

The neuroscience community has made enormous progress at characterizing the wide range of physiological functions undertaken by astrocytes in the central nervous system. Originally described as a rather inert, uninteresting cell type that keeps the brain together structurally, as the term 'glia' (from Greek, "glue"), coined by Virchow in 1856, implies, we have now learned that astrocytes are instrumental for survival and correct functioning of the neighboring neurons (Barres, 2008). Early investigations have demonstrated their trophic support of neurons when cultured together (Banker, 1980). Since then, they have also been implicated in synaptic transmission via uptake of glutamate from the synaptic cleft and maintenance of ionic balance, which tunes the neurons' membrane potential (Seifert et al., 2018; Verkhratsky and Nedergaard, 2018; Verkhratsky et al., 2020). Furthermore, they actively participate in neuronal communication, responding to synaptic activity through alterations in cytosolic calcium concentrations (Fischer et al., 2020; Verkhratsky et al., 2012) and release of gliotransmitters to signal neighboring neurons (Araque et al., 2014). Astrocytes are also crucial, during development, for the establishment of connections by providing molecular cues, such as thrombospondins, that drive synaptogenesis, as well as instructing axonal growth and path finding via secretion of cytokines (Molofsky et al., 2012). The dynamic regulation of synaptic connectivity, as well as the ability of specialized astrocytes to generate new neurons, is retained in the adult brain where they contribute, for instance, to hippocampal plasticity (Harris et al., 2021; Lee et al., 2021). With their end-feet enwrapping blood vessels (Foo et al., 2011), astrocytes are also known for regulating blood flow (Beiersdorfer et al., 2019; Otsu et al., 2015) and establishing the blood-brain barrier, which ultimately contributes to a finely regulated metabolic and ionic supply to the parenchymal environment (Abbott et al., 2006). Considering the wide range of astroglial functions that support neurons, it is perhaps not surprising that malfunctioning or reactive astrocytes may also have the power to trigger neurotoxicity and neurodegeneration (Liddelow and Sofroniew, 2019). For instance, astrocytes carrying a mutant form of SOD1, a gene linked to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, are directly responsible for the degeneration of motor neurons (Di Giorgio et al., 2007; Nagai et al., 2007). Similarly, chimeric mice harboring human glia with Huntingtin mutations have shown that mutant astrocytes alone can impart behavioral phenotypes typical of the disease, whereas healthy glia are able to rescue Huntington's symptoms in diseased mice (Benraiss et al., 2016). As described later on in this thesis, astrocytes that participate in the context of injury change their molecular and structural

profiles (Sofroniew, 2020) and may contribute to either inflammation and neuronal death or to repair, in a context-dependent manner (Hasel et al., 2021; Zamanian et al., 2012).

2.1 ASTROCYTE HETEROGENEITY

Appreciation of the wide range of astroglial functions has raised questions around the extent to which these are shared among astrocytes throughout the central nervous system. Are all astrocytes displaying the same functions? Or are there spatiotemporal differences in their commitment to brain physiology? For instance, there may exist regionally specialized glia whose functions are tailored to supporting specific subtypes of neurons (Kelley et al., 2018; Lanjakornsiripan et al., 2018). Additionally, within each region, astrocytes may be found in contact with, or separated from blood vessels (Foo et al., 2011). The so called juxtavascular astrocytes, with their cell body adjacent to blood vessels, originate from a pool of progenitors that is distinct from that of non-juxtavascular astrocytes (Bribian et al., 2016; Figueres-Onate et al., 2016) and present unique molecular and electrophysiological properties in the intact and injured brains (Gotz et al., 2021). Interestingly, even though they only make up 30% of the total parenchymal astrocytes, they are the major contributors of proliferating astrocytes (Bardehle et al., 2013; Frik et al., 2018; Sirko et al., 2013). Astroglial functions can also differ based on developmental time (Cahoy et al., 2008). Secretion of thrombospondins and semaforins, for example, are crucial for synaptogenesis and axon guidance during development, but they lose relevance as the neural circuit becomes established (Allen and Eroglu, 2017; Christopherson et al., 2005). Importantly, there also exist a subtype of specialized astrocytes that function as adult neural stem cells and generate new neurons that are added to the brain throughout the lifespan. This subtype of glia is discussed more extensively later in this thesis, in the context of adult neurogenesis.

The existence of heterogeneous subtypes within the astrocyte population has been postulated since the seminal work of Ramon y Cajal, who recorded morphological differences of astrocytes across brain structures (Navarrete and Araque, 2014). These differences are, for instance, evident between white and gray matter astrocytes, where glia present fibrous morphologies with few well-defined processes, or a 'bushy' appearance with numerous small processes, typical of protoplasmic astrocytes in the gray matter (Kettenmann and Verkhratsky, 2008). Further differences in morphologies are readily observable in the human brain, where gray matter astrocytes also encompass layer I intralaminar and layer V-VI polarized astrocyte subpopulations (Oberheim et al., 2006). Recently, systematic investigations have revealed more minute morphological differences among astrocytes from different cortical and subcortical regions (Lanjakornsiripan et al., 2018; Minge et al., 2021), as well as distinct developmental times (Minge et al., 2021). Paralleling these morphological aspects are also differences in the molecular profiles of astrocyte subtypes spanning the layers of the neocortex (Batiuk et al., 2020; Bayraktar et al., 2020), as well as region-specific differences in transcription factor expression profiles (Huang et al., 2020; Lozzi et al., 2020). Original investigations of astrocyte heterogeneity could report about distinctive morphological and molecular features, but it has been challenging to demonstrate that these phenotypes are

associated with heterogeneity of function. However, recent investigations are beginning to tackle the question of whether there exist functionally distinct subpopulations of glia. For instance, spinal cord astrocytes associated with a subtype of motor neurons express distinct levels of potassium channels, which appear to be necessary for specific contractile muscle behaviors (Kelley et al., 2018). Furthermore, other studies have recorded differences in calcium signaling across brain regions, with hippocampal astrocytes being more receptive to neuronal stimulation than striatal astrocytes (Chai et al., 2017), a property that may facilitate plasticity and synaptic potentiation (Adamsky et al., 2018). Recent development in multiomics technology, which surveys transcriptional and epigenetic profiles with unprecedented, genome-wide resolution and high-throughput, will further advance our understanding of functional diversity of astrocytes in health and disease (Cahoy et al., 2008; Hasel et al., 2021; Zeisel et al., 2018)

It is still unclear where the astrocyte's diversity is originating from. Interestingly, contrary to other glial cell types that are ontologically younger, it is possible to identify astrocyte-like cells in any organism with a central nervous system. Astroglia in the C. Elegans and the Drosophila express glutamate and gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors, and have been implicated in axon guidance, suggesting that they may play roles that are analogous to their mammalian counterpart (Rival et al., 2004; Soustelle et al., 2002). In simpler organisms, however, the astroglial population appears to be rather homogeneous. Throughout evolution, astrocyte subtypes have, instead, emerged in concomitance with the expanding neuronal subtype collection that characterizes the brain of higher organisms (Freeman and Rowitch, 2013). In fact, the growing number, complexity and diversity of astroglia that have paralleled the increasing breadth of nerve cell diversification, may have directly contributed to the enhanced cognitive capabilities characterizing the mammalian, and particularly, the human brain (Freeman and Rowitch, 2013). During development, astrocytes are mostly generated from ventricular zone radial glia, although contribution of marginal zone progenitors and neural/glial antigen 2 (NG2) glia has also been recorded (Ge et al., 2012; Huang et al., 2014), and they are first seen in the mouse brain after the neurogenic phase (i.e., around embryonic day 16)(Miller and Gauthier, 2007). The majority of cells populating the adult brain are, however, generated postnatally, from astrocyte precursors that proliferate extensively to give rise to glia that remain in close proximity (Rowitch and Kriegstein, 2010). The astroglial diversity may be encoded by cell autonomous factors, so that different astrocyte subpopulations are, for instance, generated from a diverse population of precursors. In the brain, this could be the case, for instance, for juxtavascular and pial astrocytes, which originate from distinct progenitors (Bribian et al., 2016; Figueres-Onate et al., 2016). In addition, thalamic astrocytes and neurons from distinct sensory nuclei are clonally related and share region-specific signatures, which have been shown to be retained even when astrocytes are reprogrammed into region-appropriate thalamic neurons using the same transcription factor overexpression protocol (Herrero-Navarro et al., 2021). Conversely, their differences may be dictated by surrounding environmental factors (Ben Haim and Rowitch, 2017) and neighboring cells, such as the neuronal subtypes they come in contact with (Kelley et al., 2018; Lanjakornsiripan et al., 2018). Interestingly, spinal cord astrocyte progenitors are subjected to dorsoventral gradients of secreted factors, which determine their radial patterning and the establishment of subpopulation of white matter astrocytes in the mature spinal cord (Hochstim et al., 2008). Comprehensive fate-mapping studies combined with transcriptional analysis, which are currently being established (Ratz et al., 2021; Weinreb et al., 2020), will let us examine to what extent functional heterogeneity is developmentally determined.

Within the scope of this thesis, the question of astrocyte heterogeneity is relevant for better understanding the extent to which parenchymal astrocytes can be recruited to generate new neurons that contribute to regenerative repair after injury. As briefly introduced earlier and further discussed below, there exist specialized astrocyte populations that act as neural stem cells and produce new neurons throughout life. These cells are, however, rare and only restricted to two small regions of the brain, namely the subventricular zone and the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (Gage, 2019; Gould, 2007). They can mount reactive responses after injury and increase proliferation (Faiz et al., 2015), but the extent to which they are able to contribute to regenerating neurons lost to injury is limited by their small population size (Arvidsson et al., 2002). By contrast, parenchymal astrocytes are numerous, making up 50% of all neural cells in the brain, and work contained in this thesis, as well as published by other laboratories (Nato et al., 2015), shows that they can be recruited into the neurogenic program (Magnusson et al., 2014; Magnusson et al., 2020; Zamboni et al., 2020). From our work is, however, evident that astrocytes display some differences to the extent to which they can reveal their neurogenic potential. Striatal astrocytes, indeed, readily generate neural progenitors after either exposure to an ischemic stroke or depletion of Notch signaling (Magnusson et al., 2014; Magnusson et al., 2020). By contrast, Notch signaling inhibition in the cortex is not sufficient to drive their cell fate conversion, which is only evident when animals are also subjected to an injury (Zamboni et al., 2020). On the other hand, our work in the cortex suggests that the same stimuli are able to recruit astrocytes beyond a specific cortical region, and that this potential can be displayed by glia across cortical layers (Zamboni et al., 2020). It remains to be established, however, whether the differences we have recorded are based upon cell-intrinsic factors or whether they are determined by the surrounding microenvironment. Seminal transplantation studies (Gage et al., 1995; Herrera et al., 1999) have suggested that the cortex may be a particularly hostile environment for survival of neural progenitors. This may hinder cell fate conversion of Notch-depleted astrocytes, which need instead additional stimulations in order to unlock their neurogenic program. Similarly, increased exposure to trophic bloodand cerebrospinal fluid-borne factors may give striatal astrocytes an advantage in their commitment to the neuronal lineage fate transition (Ihrie and Alvarez-Buylla, 2011; Sirko et al., 2013; Tavazoie et al., 2008).

2.2 REACTIVE GLIOSIS

Astrocytes have been known to respond to injury for over a hundred years, but their contributions have largely been neglected until recently. In their review from 2010, Sofroniew

and Vinters were among the firsts that attempted to offer a broad and comprehensive definition of astrocyte reactivity (Sofroniew and Vinters, 2010). Since then, a vast number of findings have brought considerable progress to the study of reactive astrocyte diversity (Hasel et al., 2021; Moulson et al., 2021; Sofroniew, 2020; Zamanian et al., 2012), the molecular regulators of reactivity (Escartin et al., 2021; Liddelow and Barres, 2017; Liddelow et al., 2017), as well as the functional contribution to the injury microenvironment and surrounding cellular communities (Guttenplan et al., 2021; Han et al., 2021; Sofroniew, 2020). Astrocyte reactivity is, now, considered to be a spectrum of molecular, functional, and structural changes that sometimes lead to cell proliferation (Sofroniew, 2020; Wilhelmsson et al., 2006; Zamanian et al., 2012). Their response to injury is heterogeneous and context-dependent, varying based on type and severity of the insult (Zamanian et al., 2012), as well as along spatiotemporal axes (Hasel et al., 2021; Li et al., 2014; Rakers et al., 2019). Molecular and cellular changes that are common across diseases are the upregulation of intermediate filament proteins, such as glial fibrillary acidic protein (Gfap), Vimentin, and Nestin, the astroglial action on the extracellular milieu, and the interaction with immune cells (Zamanian et al., 2012).

According to Sofroniew (2020), reactive astrocyte responses can be divided into two broad categories based on whether glia are recruited into cell division. Non-proliferative reactive astrocytes are seen in systemic inflammatory diseases and neurodegenerative conditions. They tend to maintain their territorial domain and engagement with the surrounding neuronal and glial cells. Proliferative astrocytes, on the other hand, are seen in traumatic injury and tend to be recruited to form borders against areas of fibrosis and tissue inflammation. The diverse reactive response may in part be attributed to intrinsic determinants, with proliferating astrocytes largely originating from juxtavascular astrocytes (Bardehle et al., 2013; Frik et al., 2018; Lange Canhos et al., 2021) or ependymal cells (Carlen et al., 2009; Sabelstrom et al., 2013). Notably, the lesion bordering response of the proliferative reactive glia has classically been understood as a scarring process with detrimental and anti-reparative characteristics. However, conditionally ablating genes implicated in structural changes of glial morphology, such as Gfap and Vimentin (Li et al., 2008b; Liu et al., 2014) or that regulate proliferation and migration of reactive cells, such as Stat3 (Signal Transducer And Activator Of Transcription 3) and Notch1, show that impaired border formation is linked to increased spread of inflammation and secondary damage, as well as greater neuronal death and functional impairment (Shimada et al., 2011; Wanner et al., 2013; Xie et al., 2020). Furthermore, unlike attenuation of the fibrotic scar, which facilitates regeneration of neuronal processes after spinal cord injury (Dias et al., 2018; Goritz et al., 2011), presence of astrocytes along the borders of the scar tissue does not seem to impede axonogenesis (Anderson et al., 2016; Anderson et al., 2018). In fact, recent studies by Chen and colleagues (2018) and Xie and colleagues (2020) show that increasing proliferation and border formation may actually contribute to enhanced repair after spinal cord injury. Notably, however, another study has shown that neuroblast migration towards the ischemic lesion is impeded by reactive astrocytes in the striatum (Kaneko et al., 2018), reflecting the highly diverse and context-dependent response of reactive glia.

Another prominent classification of reactive astrocytes is based on their pro- or antiinflammatory action. Once again, different phenotypes arise in a context-dependent manner. Pro-inflammatory, neurotoxic astrocytes ("A1") have, for instance, been recorded in bacterial experimentally modelled with systemic infection, which is administration lipopolysaccharide (Liddelow et al., 2017), as well as neurodegenerative diseases (Liddelow et al., 2017; Rodriguez-Arellano et al., 2016), and are progressively more prominent in the aging brain, where they may contribute to cognitive decline due to their role in inflammation and synapse disruption (Clarke et al., 2018; Orre et al., 2014; Rodriguez-Arellano et al., 2016). This cell state is characterized by activation of the classical complement cascade (i.e., C1s, C3, and C4) (Zamanian et al., 2012), a process induced by neighboring neuroinflammatory microglia (Liddelow et al., 2017), that may represent a priming factor for neurodegeneration (Clarke et al., 2018; Liddelow et al., 2017). Neuroprotective reactive glia ("A2") are instead a hallmark of traumatic and ischemic lesions and have been shown to secrete cytokines and neurotrophic factors, such as interleukin 6 (Il6) and thrombospondins, that help resolving inflammation and rebuilding synapses (Christopherson et al., 2005; Zamanian et al., 2012). Zamanian and colleagues (2012) have compared the transcriptional profile of these two subsets of astrocytes and found prominent differences in gene expression, reflecting the highly diverse set of functions each group undertakes. The authors, however, warn that the binary classification may actually represent an oversimplification and that reactive gliosis may instead be more diverse than observed in their study (Liddelow and Barres, 2017). Recent developments in single-cell omics and improvements in astrocyte isolation techniques, have allowed researchers to substantially increase the throughput of transcriptional experiments and revealed greater diversity in the reactive gliosis response (Hasel et al., 2021). Accordingly, a recent consensus statement published by major exponents in the field, recommends avoiding binary classifications and focusing, instead, on the diverse molecular and functional responses of reactive astrocytes (Escartin et al., 2021).

Interestingly, reprogramming studies that aim at using parenchymal astrocytes to induce new neurons have shown that efficiency of the astrocyte-to-neuron conversion is enhanced after injury (Robel et al., 2011; Sirko et al., 2013), and have, thus, proposed that reactive gliosis may be necessary in order to unveil the neurogenic potential of astrocytes. In support of this notion is the fact that reactive astrocytes and neurogenic astrocytes from the subventricular zone share several molecular and morphological characteristics (Magnusson and Frisen, 2016). Our analysis of astrocyte-mediated neurogenesis in the injured cortex, however, suggest that initiation of the neurogenic program can occur independent of reactive gliosis and shows, in fact, that reactive astrocytes rarely express the pro-neuronal transcription factor achaete-scute family bHLH transcription factor 1 (Ascl1) (Zamboni et al., 2020).

3 ADULT NEUROGENESIS

"It is this potential for plasticity of the relatively stereotyped units of the nervous system that endows each of us with our individuality."

— Eric R. Kandel, 2000

Neurogenesis is the process through which neural stem cells, which are located in specialized niches across the brain, give rise to new neurons. It was traditionally believed that the brain, once development had ended, would be immutable and that no new neurons could be created and added to the established neural circuits. The seminal work of Altman and Das in the 1960s, shows incorporation of radioactive thymidine in the rat dentate gyrus, suggesting for the first time that new cells are added to the adult brain (Altman and Das, 1965). A decade later, Kaplan and Hinds replicated these results and used electron microscopy to demonstrate that the adultborn cells in the dentate gyrus were in fact neurons (Kaplan and Hinds, 1977). Nottebohm, subsequently, studied the songbird brain and demonstrated the seasonal occurrence of bursts of neurogenesis (Nottebohm, 1989). These initial experiments were followed by other studies confirming that adult-born neurons are present across mammalian species, including humans (Eriksson et al., 1998). For decades, the notion of adult neurogenesis was met with skepticism and intense criticism. Conceptually, the scientific community was concerned that if indeed new neurons were generated and added to the established neural circuit of the mature brain, memories and even the concept of self-identity could not be stable. Since the early 1990s, however, experiments validating adult neurogenesis with independent measures, along with physiological and functional analyses, have accumulated exponentially, and eventually laid the disbelief to rest. Surprisingly though, the recent publication of two papers with contradicting results has reignited the debate. Sorrells and colleagues (2018) suggested that human hippocampal neurogenesis would sharply decrease to undetectable levels shortly after childhood. By contrast, Boldrini and colleagues (2018) support previous evidence and show high numbers of neural progenitor cells throughout the lifespan. Arguably, their findings likely reflect the challenges encountered when working with human postmortem tissue and the need for reliable detection methods to unambiguously identify neural stem cells and young neurons. Indeed, there are several sources of variation that could influence immunostaining experiments and lead to drawing contradictory conclusions, namely the post-mortem delay, tissue preservation and fixation, but also physical and psychological state of the subjects, which is particularly important in the context of hippocampal neurogenesis (van Praag et al., 2000). Rigorous tissue collection and documentation of the subjects' medical history, along with the use of systematic protocols and quantification methods, have led to more convincing results on the persistence of hippocampal neurogenesis throughout life (Moreno-Jimenez et al., 2019) and how this changes in the presence of neurodegenerative diseases (Terreros-Roncal et al., 2021). Moving forward, the use of more sophisticated approaches, such as fate-mapping studies and transcriptional analysis, will lead to a greater understanding of the cellular and molecular components of adult neurogenesis in the human brain. A few attempts have already been made to identify and characterize neurogenic cells with single-cell transcriptomics in the human (Ayhan et al., 2021; Habib et al., 2017), however studies may have been underpowered or have misclassified other cell types as neural progenitors (Franjic et al., 2021; Sorrells et al., 2021). A recent publication leveraged snRNA-seq across species to show that human dentate gyrus cells rarely co-cluster with neural progenitors from mouse, pig, or monkey (Franjic et al., 2021). In our study (Dumitru, *manuscript*), we identified neural stem and progenitor cells from young human brains (aged 0 to 5 years old), learned their transcriptional profile, and used machine learning algorithms to determine the minimum marker combination to define each state along the neurogenic program. These molecular signatures were, subsequently, used to reveal cells of adult dentate gyrus datasets, with transcriptional profiles indicative of a neurogenic cell state.

3.1 CANONICAL NEUROGENESIS

New neurons are added throughout life, but their generation is restricted to two small regions of the mammalian brain, namely the subventricular zone, where neural stem cells are found lining the walls of the lateral ventricles, and the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (Gage, 2019; Gould, 2007). Neurogenesis occurs through activation of neural stem cells, which proliferate and give rise to neural progenitors. These then migrate toward their target neural circuit, where they differentiate into mature neurons. The process of activation of neural stem cells within the two neurogenic niches is similar (Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2015; Shin et al., 2015), although their post-mitotic fates diverge as the neurogenic progeny activates transcription factors implicated in the specification of the region-appropriate neural subtypes. Adult neural stem cells originate from a subset of developmental radial glia that ceases to proliferate midgestation, only to exit quiescence in adulthood to initiate gliogenic or neurogenic programs throughout life (Fuentealba et al., 2015; Furutachi et al., 2015). Albeit seemingly homogeneous, the adult neural stem cell population encompasses a collection of cells primed for distinct lineage fates, which are instructed based on embryonically-determined cellautonomous cues (Fuentealba et al., 2015), as well as environmental exposure to morphogen gradients, such as Wnt, which primes dorsal subventricular zone neural stem cells towards the oligodendrocyte lineage (Azim et al., 2014; Ortega et al., 2013), or sonic hedgehog (Shh), which instructs specification of deep olfactory bulb granule cell in ventral neural stem cells (Ihrie et al., 2011). Cell states along the entire neurogenic lineage can be found at any time in the germinal niche, which has enabled computational reconstruction of the complex cascade of molecular events leading to the generation of new neurons (Hochgerner et al., 2018; Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2015; Shin et al., 2015; Zywitza et al., 2018). The quiescent neural stem cell state is characterized by expression of prominin-1 (CD133) and of astroglial markers, such as Gfap and aquaporin 4 (Aqp4) (Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2015), and presents high glycolytic metabolism and low translational activity (Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2015; Shin et al., 2015). Quiescent neural stem cells also express higher levels of membrane receptors, reflecting their reliance on environmental cues to maintain their dormant state (Shin et al., 2015). By contrast,

activated neural stem cells, which downregulate expression of these receptors, become progressively less responsive to the influence of the niche, so that they can even complete differentiation ex vivo (Costa et al., 2011). Activated neural stem cells induce expression of epidermal growth factor (Egf) receptor (Codega et al., 2014; Marques-Torrejon et al., 2021), along with genes implicated in ribosomal biogenesis (Baser et al., 2019), while gene sets related to glial functions (i.e., ion transport and glycolytic metabolism) are progressively silenced (Dulken et al., 2017; Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2015). Actively dividing cells, expressing classical cell cycle genes, such as proliferating cell nuclear antigen (Pcna) and marker of proliferation Ki-67 (Mki67), are characterized by high levels of genes involved in the protein synthesis machinery (Baser et al., 2019), and concomitant upregulation of neuronal lineagespecific transcription factors (Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2015). Interestingly, clonal analyses have suggested that activated neural stem cells are rapidly depleted after generating their progeny, while only a subset of cells contribute to the long-term self-renewal capacity of the population (Calzolari et al., 2015; Obernier et al., 2018). Furthermore, there is an increased tendency to quiescence in the aging subventricular zone to avoid depletion of the neural stem cell pool (Kalamakis et al., 2019). However, once activated older neural stem cells proliferate and differentiate at similar rates compared to the younger counterparts and display minimal transcriptional differences (Kalamakis et al., 2019). Similarly, Harris and colleagues (2021) have shown that albeit neurogenesis rapidly decreases in the dentate gyrus with age, the neural stem cell pool is maintained throughout life through an increased propensity to returning to quiescence, a process regulated by degradation of the pro-neuronal transcription factor Ascl1 (Urban et al., 2016).

The germinal niche is characterized by a privileged microenvironment, directly contacting cerebrospinal fluid and vasculature, and interacting with several types of neuronal and glial cells that participate in the neurogenic process (Ihrie and Alvarez-Buylla, 2011). Contrary to other parenchymal areas of the brain, characterized by a tightly regulated blood-brain barrier, the subventricular zone gains direct access to secreted molecules through an increased leakage of blood serum into the area (Tavazoie et al., 2008). Additionally, the vascular niche influences quiescence via direct contact of endothelial cells and quiescent neural stem cells, expressing Jagged-1 ligand and Notch receptor, respectively (Ottone et al., 2014). Similarly, contact with the cerebrospinal fluid regulates neural stem cells activity (Silva-Vargas et al., 2016) and the flow of the fluid through the ventricular system directs migration of neuroblasts along the rostral migratory stream and into the olfactory bulbs (Sawamoto et al., 2006). Active proliferation of neural stem cells progressively decreases as a function of age, likely due to lower availability of growth and neurotrophic factors, including bone morphogenic protein 5 (BMP5) and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) (Silva-Vargas et al., 2016). Interestingly, heterochronic infusion of cerebrospinal fluid from juvenile mice is sufficient to restore youthful rates of neural stem cell expansion in aged brains (Silva-Vargas et al., 2016). The niche encompasses also a collection of glia cells and neural innervations that regulate stem cell behavior. Importantly, neural stem cells themselves have an active feedback system through which activated cells promote quiescence of the neighboring cells through Notch and Nogo

signaling, to avoid depletion of the neural stem cell pool (Kawaguchi et al., 2013; Rolando et al., 2012). Ependymal cells modulate BMP signaling, known for its role in promoting astrogliogenesis at the expense of neuronal lineage commitment (Lim et al., 2000). Interestingly, ependymal cells are another example of latent neural stem cells, which exit quiescence and acquire neurogenic properties after stroke, through a process that requires canonical Notch signaling inhibition (Carlen et al., 2009). Non-neurogenic niche astrocytes play roles in maintaining neural stem cell quiescence through secretion of Notch ligands Jagged-1 and Delta like non-Canonical notch ligand 1 (Dlk-1) (Ferron et al., 2011), while they also regulate proliferation and differentiation through production of Wnt ligands (Adachi et al., 2007). Similarly, microglia regulate neurogenesis in both the developmental (Zhu et al., 2008) and the adult brain via secretion of factors, such as Transforming growth factor beta (TGFb) and IGF1 (Battista et al., 2006; Ueno et al., 2013). Finally, several neuronal populations innervate the niche and promote neural stem cell activity via neurotransmitter release (Tong et al., 2014).

3.2 FUNCTIONAL IMPACT OF ADULT-BORN NEURONS

In hippocampal neurogenesis, radial glial cells are found in the subgranular zone of the dentate gyrus (Seri et al., 2001) where they give rise to highly proliferative intermediate progenitors and subsequently neural lineage-committed progenitors (Bonaguidi et al., 2011). The neurogenic progeny, the neuroblasts, then migrates short distances and populate the granule cell layer, where they complete maturation (Goncalves et al., 2016b) extending their dendrites towards the molecular layer and their axon through the hilus and cornu ammonis (CA)3 and CA2 subregions, where they make synaptic contact with pyramidal neurons and mossy cells by 2-3 weeks post-mitosis (Llorens-Martin et al., 2015; Toni et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2006). It has been estimated that as many as 9000 new neurons are generated every day in the rodent hippocampus (Cameron and McKay, 2001). Likewise, hippocampal neurogenesis remains a robust process also in the human brain (Boldrini et al., 2018; Knoth et al., 2010; Moreno-Jimenez et al., 2019; Spalding et al., 2013). Immature neurons are electrophysiologically active already one week after mitosis, but unlike mature granule cells, they respond with excitation to GABAergic inputs (Chancey et al., 2013). Furthermore, they present highly plastic synaptic activity and have a lower threshold for long-term potentiation (Ge et al., 2007), making them hyper-responsive to incoming signals. Although hippocampal radial glia only generate one type of neuron, namely granule cells, different regions of the hippocampus are implicated in distinct cognitive and affective behaviors, suggesting that new neurons originated across the dorsoventral axis of the hippocampus may be implicated in different functions (Ayhan et al., 2021; Cope and Gould, 2019).

The hippocampal formation is known as a gateway to memory, which guides formation of new memories through the establishment of connections between pre-existing neurons. In this context, synaptic plasticity is crucial to sustain life-long learning abilities and hippocampal neurogenesis also aids this process of memory formation. Furthermore, neurogenesis has been

linked to learning of pattern separation (Clelland et al., 2009), as well as forgetting of old memories (Akers et al., 2014). The unique electrophysiological properties of young neurons allow them to be highly receptive to new information that may be carried with weaker signal due to their connections not yet being fully established. Interestingly, the rate at which new neurons are added to the dentate gyrus is influenced by genetic and environmental factors. Major depressive disorder is associated with lower levels of neurogenesis and adult-born neurons are virtually depleted in the brains of individuals suffering from Alzheimer's disease (Berger et al., 2020; Moreno-Jimenez et al., 2019). The impaired neurogenic program may be at the basis of the memory problems encountered in the neurodegenerative condition, but it may also be associated with affective dysregulation since the hippocampus is part of the limbic system, a collection of brain structures that participate in emotional regulation (Anacker and Hen, 2017; Anacker et al., 2018). Conversely, hippocampal neurogenesis has been shown to benefit from environmental experiences, such as learning, physical exercise and exposure to an enriched environment (van Praag et al., 2000), all of which increases proliferation and survival of the progenitors, as well as enhances complexity and maturation of afferent and efferent connections, and in turn, benefits cognitive performance (Llorens-Martin et al., 2015).

The functional role of adult-born neurons from the subventricular zone is less well understood. In the subventricular zone, neural stem cells are found at the basal side of the ependymal cell layer lining the lateral ventricles (Kriegstein and Alvarez-Buylla, 2009). They extend an apical process passed the ependymal cell layer to reach the cerebrospinal fluid and another that makes contact with the vasculature (Doetsch et al., 1999), emphasizing the importance of these two compartments in regulating neurogenesis. Activated neural stem cells give rise to transit amplifying cells, which expand rapidly before generating neuroblasts that migrate toward their target neural circuit. In rodents, neuroblasts move along the rostral migratory stream to reach and innervate the olfactory bulb (Belluzzi et al., 2003; Doetsch et al., 1999). Once there, they mature into interneurons that may participate in olfactory discrimination tasks (Bragado Alonso et al., 2019). It has been shown that neural stem cells along the walls of the subventricular zone are regionally specialized since embryogenesis (Fuentealba et al., 2015) and generate neuroblasts that mature into distinct neuronal subtypes in the olfactory bulb (Delgado and Lim, 2015; Mizrak et al., 2019). The dorsal domain of the subventricular zone gives rise to superficial olfactory bulb granule cells and dopaminergic periglomerular cells, whereas the ventral domain specifies maturation of deep olfactory bulb granule neurons and calbindinexpressing periglomerular cells (Merkle et al., 2007). Interestingly, no neurogenesis occurs in the human olfactory bulb (Bergmann et al., 2012), which may reflect the decreased reliance of our species on the sense of smell, compared to mice. Instead, neuroblasts in humans seem to migrate to the striatum, where they mature into calretinin-expressing interneurons, which are a rare population in rodents but make up about 10% of interneurons in the human striatum (Ernst et al., 2014). The functional relevance of striatal neurogenesis is still enigmatic, although it is striking that new neurons are predominantly added to the medial striatum, which is part of the limbic system, receiving afferents from medial prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex. The human brain is not unique in displaying striatal neurogenesis in homeostatic conditions, which

has also been recorded in rats (Dayer et al., 2005) and rabbits (Luzzati et al., 2006). These model organisms could, thus, be exploited in the future to investigate physiological properties and roles of the adult-born neurons and help us clarify their functional relevance in humans.

3.3 REACTIVE NEUROGENESIS

While at the population level, neural stem cells have multilineage and self-renewal potential, the individual cell appears to be fate-biased since embryonic development (Fuentealba et al., 2015; Merkle et al., 2007) and can quickly be depleted after one or two rounds of expansion (Obernier et al., 2018), which could hinder efficient brain repair after injury. However, several studies have demonstrated that injury elicits a process of reactive neurogenesis that promotes recruitment of quiescent stem cells (Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2015), increases their lineage plasticity (Faiz et al., 2015), and reroutes their differentiated progeny towards sites of damage (Arvidsson et al., 2002; Faiz et al., 2015). After an ischemic event, quiescent neural stem cells have shown to selectively respond to injury-induced interferon gamma activity, which primes them for activation (Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2015). Furthermore, in response to stroke, neural stem cells of the subventricular zone display trilineage potential and generate neurons, oligodendrocytes, as well as astrocytes to attempt to repopulate the damaged area (Li et al., 2010). Some reports have suggested that neurogenic subventricular zone cells are also able to generate region-appropriate neurons in the target area, such as medium spiny neurons that have been recorded in the striatum after stroke (Arvidsson et al., 2002), albeit these findings remain controversial (Liu et al., 2009). Astrocytes generated by subventricular zone cells in response to injury may participate with resident reactive glia in restricting tissue damage. They also display distinctive features and may exhibit increased capacity for repair (Faiz et al., 2015). Demyelinating lesions elicit lineage-fate switch of neuron-committed progenitors to favor oligodendrogenesis (Jablonska et al., 2010). After stroke, subventricular zone neuroblast migrate towards striatal sites of damage. The partial rerouting of the progenitors occurs along newly generated blood vessels (Thored et al., 2007) and is sustained for several months after the ischemic event has occurred (Thored et al., 2006). Nevertheless, a minority of injuryinduced neurogenic cells survive long-term in the striatum and only a small percentage (about 0.2%) of the neurons lost to injury is eventually replaced (Arvidsson et al., 2002).

Interestingly, the brain encompasses cells that can be viewed as latent neural stem cells, whose regenerative potential is revealed in response to injury. Injury prompts a bidirectional fate switch between the two main cellular components of the subventricular zone, namely neural stem cells and ependymal cells, a process regulated by Ephrin B2, downstream of Notch signaling (Nomura et al., 2010). In fact, ependymal cells, which are generally quiescent in homeostatic conditions, have shown trilineage potential when cultured *in vitro* (Meletis et al., 2008), and have demonstrated the ability to proliferate robustly after brain and spinal cord injury, and to generate neuroblasts, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (Barnabe-Heider et al., 2010; Carlen et al., 2009; Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2020; Sabelstrom et al., 2013). Interestingly, the latter lineage is not favored after spinal cord injury, although multiomic analysis has

demonstrated a permissive chromatin state for oligodendrogenic gene expression programs (Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2020). After injury, ectopic expression of the transcription factor Olig2 instructs ependymal cells towards generation of oligodendrocytes that myelinate and appear transcriptionally and functionally comparable to local glia (Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2020). This suggests that learning the transcriptional and epigenetic landscape of canonical and latent neural stem cells may guide design of regenerative therapies to replace specific cell types lost to injury.

Reactive neurogenesis can also occur ectopically, at the lesion site, from resident cells that can reveal a latent neurogenic program. This has been demonstrated for parenchymal astrocytes, which generate new neurons in the striatum following ischemic damage (Magnusson et al., 2014), as well as an experimental model of Huntington's disease (Nato et al., 2015). The recruitment of astrocytes into neurogenesis is controlled by Notch signaling inhibition, which is by itself sufficient to trigger a similar response in the striatum in the absence of injury (Magnusson et al., 2014). Once engaged, resident glia enter a neurogenic program that is comparable to canonical neural stem cell behavior (Magnusson et al., 2020), generating transit amplifying progenitors and neuroblasts, before maturing into striatal interneurons (Magnusson et al., 2014). Interestingly, silencing of Notch signaling in the context of a cortical injury enables astrocytes from the somatosensory and the occipital cortices to mount a similar neurogenic response, a process that unfolds independent of reactive gliosis (Zamboni et al., 2020). Several laboratories have also proposed NG2 cells as a possible source of new neurons based on observations that suggest trilineage potential of these cells when cultured in vitro (Kondo and Raff, 2000). The evidence for NG2 cell-mediated neurogenesis is, however, scarce and controversial both in physiological conditions, as well as in the context of injury (Kirdajova and Anderova, 2020). NG2 cells, however, have been shown to be a valuable target for in vivo reprogramming strategies, where they can generate multiple subtypes of neurons using ectopic expression of lineage-specific transcription factors (Heinrich et al., 2014; Pereira et al., 2017; Torper et al., 2015).

The role of immune signals in neurogenesis is relevant but complex. Interferon gamma activity has been shown to prime quiescent stem cells for activation shortly after stroke (Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2015). Furthermore, injury-induced changes in the immune signals are sufficient to trigger regenerative responses in the zebrafish brain (Kyritsis et al., 2012), through gene regulatory mechanisms that are not active in canonical neurogenesis, but unique to the regenerating tissue (Kang et al., 2016). In mammals, studies have also suggested that inflammation is sufficient to trigger neurogenesis (Chapman et al., 2015). Microglia have been shown to regulate neurogenesis and plasticity in homeostatic conditions, both in the developing brain, as well as in the adult germinal niche. However, several investigations have shown that activation of the immune cells may also hinder neurogenesis. For instance, Liu and colleagues (2007) have shown that depletion of activated microglia in the chronic phase of stroke supported survival and maturation of new neurons after stroke. Similarly, Ekdahl and colleagues (2003) suggest that survival of newly generated hippocampal neurons is negatively impacted by the extent of microglia activation. Furthermore, mimicking bacterial infections

with lipopolysaccharide administration is associated with a shift to a pro-inflammatory phenotype of microglia, which is linked to impaired neurogenesis (Ekdahl et al., 2003). Finally, in aging and neurodegeneration, microglia adopt a pro-inflammatory phenotype that may impair neurogenesis (Biscaro et al., 2012; Sierra et al., 2007). Altogether, reports studying the involvement of immune cells in the regulation of reactive neurogenic responses suggest that their implication can be either favorable or detrimental at different stages of disease progression, as well as depending on disease severity.

The functional relevance of the injury-induced neurons is unclear, but it may differ based on the type of injury and the site at which neurogenesis is occurring. Interestingly, epilepsy is associated with increased proliferation of dentate gyrus radial glia and faster maturation of granule cells. Yet, long-lasting epilepsy is linked to cognitive decline and inhibiting seizureinduced neurogenesis has been shown to directly prevent impairment, as well as lower the risk for chronic seizures (Cho et al., 2015). Similarly, a recent study has shown that aberrant hippocampal neurogenesis recorded after stroke exacerbates injury-related symptoms of cognitive impairment (Cuartero et al., 2019). It is possible that abnormal rates of generation and maturation of neurons lead to the establishment of aberrant connections in the neural circuit, which in turn can alter excitability of the dentate gyrus (Overstreet-Wadiche et al., 2006). Arguably, even the process of reactive neurogenesis recorded at the injury sites, which leads to the replacement of just a small proportion of lost neurons, is unlikely to contribute to efficient repair, as highlighted by the fact that patients who suffer a stroke may never regain full functionality. However, reports have shown that specifically ablating neural progenitor populations shortly after ischemic injury, leads to worsened outcomes in terms of lesion volumes and mortality (Butti et al., 2012). The reactive response of subventricular zone cells appears to be beneficial, in that it provides protection against excitotoxic damage induced by glutamatergic neurons after stroke (Butti et al., 2012) Furthermore, injury-induced neuronal cells that survive long-term, successfully integrate in the local circuit (Hou et al., 2008), suggesting that their existence may have some beneficial contribution, and that further promoting their survival may prove valuable to enhance their positive influence on recovery (Wang et al., 2012).

Even with injury-mediated changes in the rate of neurogenesis and lineage plasticity of neural stem cells, the brain remains inefficient at repairing itself. The restricted number of neural stem cells found in the adult brain is unlikely to be sufficient to repopulate brain regions afflicted by widespread neuronal death. Furthermore, most neural progenitors and neurons induced after injury die shortly after they are generated. Thus, novel strategies for regenerative repair could be designed in order to promote survival of the neural stem cell progeny, as well as to stimulate differentiation into region-appropriate neurons that are functionally comparable to the original cells. Furthermore, the discovery that resident parenchymal cells may activate a neurogenic program in response to injury opens the doors to regenerative therapies that target these abundant cell types to achieve more widespread neuronal replacement. These topics are discussed further in the next chapter of this thesis.

4 CELL REPLACEMENT AND REGENERATION

"Awakening, basically, is a reversal of this: the patient ceases to feel the presence of illness and the absence of the world, and comes to feel the absence of his illness and the full presence of the world."

— Oliver Sacks, 1973

Despite lifelong generation of new neurons in the specialized niches of the brain, the central nervous system of mammals is largely inefficient at repairing itself after widespread damage and neuronal death. Ultimately, cell replacement therapies for neurologic conditions aim at repopulating the injured brain with the appropriate cell types that were lost to injury, allowing them to integrate correctly into the neuronal network, thus, providing functional recovery. Two main categories of cell replacement therapies are currently being explored, namely cell transplantation and recruitment of endogenous cells. Aside from the specific strengths and limitations of the therapeutic approaches, each strategy will have to overcome significant hurdles imposed by the target tissue in order to become successful. Indeed, the adult brain offers an unsupportive environment for the young neurons to achieve maturation and functional integration, whatever source these cells are originating from. Much unlike in the embryonic brain, characterized by a supportive microenvironment where neurogenesis is prevalent at the expense of the gliogenic fate, starting at birth and throughout life, gliogenesis becomes the default fate (Gotz et al., 2016). Indeed, early transplantation studies have shown that neural progenitors, with recognized neurogenic potential in vitro, are unable to generate neurons when grafted to the adult brain, unless they are placed at the germinal niche (Herrera et al., 1999). The strong influence of a non-permissive environment is also evident in the context of reprogramming studies, where ectopic expression of neuronal fate determinants efficiently drives lineage conversion in vitro but proves considerably more challenging when attempted in vivo (Buffo et al., 2005; Grande et al., 2013). This may lead to the therapeutic cells differentiating into glial cells, or it may hinder their survival altogether. The developing brain is also characterized by the presence of a well-defined network of cells and chemoattractant signals that encourage progenitors' migration and establishment of synaptic connections at their target sites (Gotz et al., 2016). In the adult brain, radial glia providing structural support to migrating cells are absent and sprouting axons are no longer guided by an abundance of signals that ensure path finding and connectivity with the appropriate cells. In fact, it was observed that, after transplantation of neural progenitors, the cells tended to form clusters around the injection site and did not display considerable migration (Ladewig et al., 2014). Interestingly, neural progenitors at different stages of maturation are differentially capable of migrating once transplanted, with cells at early or intermediate stages of differentiation covering the longest distances (Ganat et al., 2012). Similarly, in a mouse model of stroke, overexpression of Slit1, which is associated with neuronal migration, promoted movement of subventricular zone neuroblasts passed the reactive astrocyte layer limiting the injury site, and

led to greater repopulation of new neurons at the infarcted area (Kaneko et al., 2018). In another study, polysialic acid (PSA), a carbohydrate implicated in migration and synapse formation, was overexpressed in embryonic cells transplanted into a rodent model of Parkinson's disease and shown to make cells more responsive to the scarce axon-guiding cue found in the adult brain and more efficient at establishing connections (Battista et al., 2014). Finally, the aging brain becomes progressively less plastic and is characterized by a generalized state of neuroinflammation (Biscaro et al., 2012; Sierra et al., 2007), which may be detrimental for survival, proliferation, and integration of newly generated cells. The situation becomes exacerbated after injury or in a brain afflicted by neurodegenerative diseases (Biscaro et al., 2012), which are generally the targets of regenerative medicine efforts. Monje and colleagues (2003) have demonstrated that inflammation challenges the proliferative behavior of hippocampal neural stem cells, and that their activity can be restored through administration of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Thus, combining replacement therapies with strategies that support survival and maturation of the newly generated cells, or that consider comorbidities of the disease, such as neuroinflammation, will likely prove greater potential in promoting regenerative repair. Additionally, considering that cell therapies are generally aimed at treating age-related neurological conditions, extensive investigation of their potential in aged animal models may support their translation into clinical application.

4.1 REPLACEMENT THERAPY USING CELL TRANSPLANTATION

The earliest attempts at promoting regeneration of injured brains date back to the 1970s when researchers succeeded in replacing degenerated dopaminergic neurons in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease, effectively rescuing motor function (Perlow et al., 1979). Since then, replacement therapies utilizing exogenous sources of cells have been refined and, even, tested in clinical trials (Barker et al., 2015; Parmar et al., 2020). Multiple sources of cells for transplantation have been explored so far. Initial experiments utilized allografts of human fetal origin (Lindvall et al., 1990), which were shown to differentiate in situ, establish meaningful connections, and release neurotransmitters at desired sites. The outcomes for treating Parkinson's disease with fetal ventro-mesencephalic tissue have been promising (Parmar et al., 2020) and attempts have been made for restoring basal ganglia functionality in Huntington's disease (Hauser et al., 2002), albeit with limited success owing to the poor survival rate of grafted cells (Cisbani and Cicchetti, 2014). Nevertheless, the use of human fetal tissue poses great limitations that hinders this strategy from becoming a therapy. Firstly, the scarce availability of the source and the large amounts required to repopulate an adult brain have led to a large number of surgeries being cancelled owing to the lack of tissue (Barker and consortium, 2019). Furthermore, there is poor control over the genetic background of the donors and the compositions of cells collected, because multiple fetal brains are used to treat each patients, and they may differ in age and the way they are being dissected, leading to high variability of the therapeutic material being delivered (Parmar et al., 2020). More recently, cell grafts from human embryos have also shown some therapeutic promise through successful

structural and functional integration in compromised neural networks (Barker, 2014; Falkner et al., 2016; Steinbeck et al., 2015). Interestingly, a study by Li and colleagues (Li et al., 2016) showed that a patient with Parkinson's disease who received embryonic stem cell transplantation, retained some of the grafted cells for as long as 24 years, and these cells connected with the putamen through dopaminergic innervation. This suggests that the beneficial effect of cell transplantation derives from cell replacement, which is, in fact, the ultimate goal of the therapy. However, other studies have also observed bystander beneficial effects, such as increased survival of host neurons thanks to trophic support offered by the transplanted cells (Mendonca et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2013). Compared to fetal cells, pluripotent human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) are more easily accessible because cultures can be expanded virtually indefinitely. In addition, there is better control over the production and differentiation processes, which results in greater purity and decreased inter-batch variability (Parmar et al., 2020). However, embryonic stem cells still carry the risk of immune rejection and, therefore, need to be combined with immunosuppression. Furthermore, their pluripotent and self-renewal potential raises concerns regarding possible tumorigenicity. Notably, many studies in model organisms have been carried out and, so far, none has recorded problems of uncontrolled proliferation or tumor formation. However, the longer lifespan of the patients combined with the greater numbers of cells being injected may carry greater risks, which will be carefully evaluated in clinical trials (Parmar et al., 2020). These hurdles, as well as risks associated with immunosuppressive treatments, which still need to be imposed to avoid rejection of cell grafts, may be overcome with the use of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), which can be harvested in large numbers from the patient's own organs (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). Fibroblasts from the skin can be reprogrammed in vitro using refined differentiation protocols that allow correct patterning and maturation into midbrain dopaminergic neurons (Soldner et al., 2009). Specific neuronal and glial subtypes can now be reliably and efficiently generated from iPSCs through activation of key transcription factors (Canals et al., 2021). Nerve cells originated from iPSCs and transplanted into the brain have remarkable capacity for neurite outgrowth, and synthesis and release of neurotransmitters with potency and specificity that parallels that of endogenous cells (Kirkeby et al., 2012; Kriks et al., 2011). Stem cell transplants have demonstrated successful integration of grafted cells even in highly complex neocortical circuits in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease, cortical injury, and stroke (Espuny-Camacho et al., 2017; Espuny-Camacho et al., 2013; Falkner et al., 2016). Importantly, as studies have shown that grafted cells may begin to bear pathological hallmarks of host neurons after transplantation (Li et al., 2008a), stem cell therapy has the potential advantage to be genetically engineered to withstand disease pathology, which is particularly relevant in case the cells to be injected directly derive from the patient (Kikuchi et al., 2017). Based on the promising outcomes of preclinical studies utilizing iPSCs-originated neurons (Kikuchi et al., 2017; Sharma et al., 2019; Tsuji et al., 2019), trials in humans are currently being designed for patients afflicted by Parkinson's disease, as well as other conditions, such as macular degeneration and spinal cord injury (Cyranoski, 2018a, b; Mandai et al., 2017).

4.2 ENDOGENOUS SOURCES FOR REGENERATIVE REPAIR

The risks associated with cell transplantation and the limited contribution of adult neural stem cells to widespread regeneration have encouraged research towards the discovery of alternative sources for safer and more efficient repair. Induction of ectopic neurogenesis in situ has been proposed as a novel therapeutic strategy since the realization that several differentiated cell types can be instructed to undertake a neuronal identity, when stimulating expression of key transcription factors (Chanda et al., 2014). There are fundamental advantages associated with strategies that aim at repurposing local cells to repopulate neural circuitries, including the vast availability of these cells in situ and the lack of risks associated with graft rejection. However, more research is needed in this field to achieve efficient lineage conversion and to demonstrate that newly generated neurons are molecularly and functionally comparable to the cells they aim to replace. Several studies have provided evidence that direct reprogramming through ectopic expression of transcription factors implicated in development as master regulators of neurogenesis, can drive lineage fate conversion of brain cells into neurons. The earliest example of such approach was a study published by Heins and colleagues (2002), who showed that neocortical glia from postnatal brains can convert to neurons under Paired box 6 (Pax6) overexpression when cultured in vitro. Since then, numerous other studies have shown the possibility to generate different types of neurons using lineage-specific fate determinants, individually or in combination. For instance, Distal-less homeobox 2 (Dlx2) enables induction of GABAergic neurons from astrocytes isolated from neonatal cortex (Heinrich et al., 2011), whereas, ectopic activation of Neurogenin 2 (Neurog2) or Neuronal differentiation 1 (NeuroD1) drives conversion into functional glutamatergic neurons from postnatal astrocytes, as well as NG2 cells, which can give rise to both deep layer pyramidal cells and GABAergic interneurons (Guo et al., 2014). Earlier investigations were successful at converting cells in vitro or in the postnatal brain, but it has been challenging to achieve the same level of efficiency in the adult brain, given the less permissive parenchymal environment (Gotz et al., 2016). Nevertheless, new efforts are demonstrating promising results and are even showing that reprogrammed cells can restore tissue functionality. For instance, expression of Ascl1/Lmx1a/NeuroD1 together with miRNA128 has proven able to convert striatal astrocytes into dopaminergic neurons and rescue injury-induced motor impairment in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease (Rivetti di Val Cervo et al., 2017). Similarly, transcription factors implicated in rod cell fate specification have been co-expressed in the retina to reveal the neurogenic potential of Müller glia, and restore vision in a mouse model of congenital blindness (Yao et al., 2018). Better efficiency of direct reprogramming can also be achieved with adjunct strategies that aid survival of the new neurons, rather than progressively increasing the number of transcription factors that are being modulated. For instance, conversion rates and survival can be promoted in reprogrammed cells through co-expression of Bcl2 and administration of anti-oxidative treatment (Gascon et al., 2016), which has increased efficiency of glia-to-neuron conversion up to 90%.

Research from our lab has shown that activation of regenerative programs in local glia with neural stem cell properties could be a valuable alternative for promoting repair (LlorensBobadilla et al., 2020; Magnusson et al., 2014; Magnusson et al., 2020; Zamboni et al., 2020). Notably, direct reprogramming studies have shown that alternative fates, unrelated to the neuronal lineage, could arise under ectopic manipulation of transcription factors (Karow et al., 2018; Treutlein et al., 2016). For instance, Treutlein and colleagues (2016) have observed generation of cells from the myogenic lineage following Ascl1 overexpression in fibroblasts, suggesting that transcription factor modulation alone may not be sufficient to reliably induce the neuronal identity, but that other factors, such as epigenetic regulation, may be at play. Our investigations, instead, show that Rbpj-depleted astrocytes unfold a neurogenic program that is virtually indistinguishable from canonical neural stem cell behavior, and does not lead to the generation of aberrant lineage fates (Magnusson et al., 2020; Zamboni et al., 2020). Additionally, contrary to direct reprogramming, activation of the neurogenic program allows astrocytes to enter a phase of amplification, which enables generation of up to 40 neuroblasts from each cell (Zamboni et al., 2020). This could greatly increase the extent of neuronal replacement without the risk of depleting the astroglial population, making local recruitment of latent neural stem cells an attractive strategy for widespread regeneration. More research is, however, needed in this field in order to improve efficiency of recruitment, promote survival of the progenitors, and verify their functional integration. A recent attempt has been made in this context, where researchers showed that new striatal neurons derived from Rbpj-depleted astrocytes are electrophysiologically active and receive synaptic input from pre-existing neurons, effectively demonstrating functional integration (Dorst et al., 2021). The study, however, suggests that these cells would provide excitatory signals to the striatum (Dorst et al., 2021), which is inconsistent with our findings proposing that new striatal neurons have a GABAergic interneuronal identity (Magnusson et al., 2014; Magnusson et al., 2020).

A limiting factor for achieving effective cell replacement in the adult brain is the mode of administration of the therapy. Studies have demonstrated the feasibility of using small molecules to attain direct reprogramming of glia into neurons (Zhang et al., 2015). However, the lack of target specificity of pharmaceutical options will likely lead to side effects, which may outweigh the benefits. Furthermore, compounds need to be able to cross the blood-brain barrier in order to reach their target, or they must be administered directly into the brain through surgical intervention. Viral gene therapy is an alternative strategy that is being explored and has proven promising in pre-clinical and clinical settings. In particular, the use of adenoassociated viruses (AAVs) has been explored in humans owing to their ability to deliver constructs with high efficiency and without triggering extensive inflammatory reactions (Peel and Klein, 2000). Surprisingly, the tropism of AAVs can change in injury conditions and depending on the vector being delivered, which emphasizes the importance of carefully designed studies that verify the identity of infected cells (Wang et al., 2021). Indeed, this was recently brought up in a study by Wang and colleagues (2021), who discovered that local neurons may have been misidentified as reprogrammed cells in several published astrocyte-toneuron conversion studies. Current research is aimed at improving transduction specificity, so that only the target cells would reliably be expressing the therapeutic genes. This can be enabled through capsid evolution, which has improved efficiency and specificity in other tissues

(Tabebordbar et al., 2021), as well as the use of cell-specific genomic elements, which regulate expression of the transgene in the desired cell population. In this context, innovative viral vector design is leveraging the great diversity of enhancer sequences in neural cells (Li et al., 2021b) to achieve expression of the transgene exclusively in specific subtypes of brain cells (Graybuck et al., 2021; Mich et al., 2021). Additionally, combined with recent development in viral vector design, advances in the CRISPR/Cas9 technology can offer versatile and effective strategies for gene-editing, as well as transcriptional inhibition or activation (Dahlman et al., 2015). For instance, CRISPR/Cas9 has been implemented to force concomitant activation of ten endogenous neurogenic genes and one long noncoding RNA, which enabled conversion of dorsal midbrain astrocytes into functional neurons (Zhou et al., 2018). Furthermore, a CRISPR activation screen has been implemented to identify transcription factors that would promote neuronal fate commitment in embryonic stem cell cultures (Liu et al., 2018). This study has demonstrated that combined expression of specific genes facilitates conversion and reported a novel role for Ezh2 in inducing neuronal identity.

Single-cell RNA-sequencing (scRNA-seq) investigations have provided us with the opportunity to interrogate cellular composition and developmental dynamics of complex tissues with unprecedented resolution (Briggs et al., 2018; La Manno et al., 2021; Zeisel et al., 2018) and it has made it possible to portray a complete transcriptional framework of the neurogenic process in homeostatic conditions (Hochgerner et al., 2018) and under perturbations. For instance, it revealed how ischemic injury promotes recruitment of dormant neural stem cells through interferon-gamma signaling (Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2015), or that conditional deletion of Lrp2, an important factor implicated in neural stem cell maintenance, dampens proliferation, globally decreases ribosomal activity, and interferes with Wnt and BMP signaling (Zywitza et al., 2018). Transcriptomics analysis has also been employed to fully characterize the reprogramming process of human pericytes overexpressing Ascl1 and Sox2, and to compare the molecular profile of induced neurons to that of endogenous cells (Karow et al., 2018). In line with the canonical neurogenic program, pericytes transit through a neural stem cell-like state, albeit in the absence of cell division, prior to developing a neuron-specific molecular phenotype. Furthermore, the researchers were able to demonstrate that reprogramming success depends on the source of cells targeted for neuron production, as distinct pericyte clusters display heterogeneous reprogramming responses. Overall, single-cell resolution and access to whole-transcriptome dynamics will allow us to refine our treatment protocols considering cell heterogeneity and the most promising temporal window for delivering therapeutic agents. Furthermore, since treatment strategies for potentiating neurogenesis are predominantly tested in pre-clinical settings, scRNA-seq analysis may help generating predictions on the effectiveness of treatments in humans, through direct comparison of shared modes of neuronal development, patterning, and integration across species (Zhu et al., 2018).

5 RESEARCH AIMS

Paper I - To learn the transcriptional mechanisms underlying neurogenesis by striatal astrocytes and to explore manipulations to recruit a greater number of astrocytes into the neuronal lineage fate.

Paper II – To assess whether neurogenesis by astrocytes is retained in different regions of the cortex in the presence of an injury, when Notch signaling is inhibited and to compare the transcriptional program of neurogenic astrocytes with that of canonical neurogenic cells, to support the notion that parenchymal astrocytes can be considered latent neural stem cells.

Paper III – To provide a reliable and unbiased framework to study human hippocampal neurogenesis with unprecedented resolution, through transcriptional profiling of neural stem and progenitor cells in the dentate gyrus across ages.

6 METHODS

"What functional significance can be attributed to the neuroglia? Unfortunately, the present state of science does not allow to answer this important question but through more or less rational conjectures. When facing this problem, the physiologist is totally disarmed for lack of methods."

— Ramón y Cajal, 1899

6.1 MODELS AND TOOLS TO STUDY ASTROCYTE BIOLOGY

It has been challenging to investigate the plethora of physiological functions astrocytes are responsible for in the healthy and the injured brain. Experiments that study cells in vitro have the advantage of being able to tease biological functions apart, as well as study processes that are specific to particular cell types, which can be cultured as single populations or co-cultured to learn about interaction between cellular communities. The original protocol for isolation and culture of glia, by McCarthy and deVellis (1980), leverages the fact that astrocytes bind more firmly than other neural cells in a dish, so that purity is achieved by washing loose cells away. More recently, protocols have used antibody-conjugated magnetic beads or immunopanning for achieving high purity cultures and developed serum-free conditions to give rise to culture settings that more closely resemble physiological environments (Guttenplan and Liddelow, 2019; Li et al., 2021a). Initial discoveries of active participation of astrocytes in neuronal communication have been possible thanks to in vitro modelling, although recent technological developments have also enabled in vivo recordings of, for instance, calcium signaling which can now be performed even in awake, freely moving animals (Qin et al., 2020). Cultures of astrocytes have also permitted manipulation of human cells and recording their response to stressors, such as hypoxia and oxidative damage, as well as identified species-specific behaviors (Li et al., 2021a). Nevertheless, the importance of astrocytes is to be fully appreciated when the cells are immersed in their original microenvironment, in contact with neurons whose activity they support, as well as blood vessels and other glial cell types they interact with. In this sense, refinement of in vivo experimental models has advanced our understanding of the specific contribution of astrocytes in health and disease. For instance, transgenic models have provided tools to specifically label and genetically manipulate glia to investigate their roles through gain- and loss-of-function designs (Srinivasan et al., 2016). Cell type-specific expression of fluorescent reporter tags, has facilitated isolation of astrocyte populations and the investigation of their molecular heterogeneity across and within regions (Batiuk et al., 2020; Lanjakornsiripan et al., 2018), as well as in response to injury (Hasel et al., 2021). They have, furthermore, assisted lineage-tracing of the glial progeny (Slezak et al., 2007), which enabled us to demonstrate an astroglial origin of the newly generated neurons after striatal (Magnusson et al., 2014) and cortical injuries (Zamboni et al., 2020).

6.2 MODELS AND TOOLS TO STUDY ADULT NEUROGENESIS

Adult neurogenesis has been extensively studied in mice and other model organisms, but it has been challenging to investigate the same processes in the human brain. Concerns around the limitations and technical challenges of the current detection methods are, in fact, continuing to be raised, while the scientific community demands rigorous studies to validate and extend the methods at our disposal for identifying cellular and molecular mechanisms of neurogenesis (Kempermann et al., 2018; Lucassen et al., 2020). Incorporation of thymidine analogs in cells that had divided in adulthood has provided the first line of evidence supporting a lifelong addition of cells in the hippocampus (Eriksson et al., 1998). Subsequent detection of BrdU with immunostaning and its colocalization with neuron-specific markers has become the goldstandard to prove the existence of adult-born neurons in the human hippocampus and striatum (Ernst et al., 2014; Kuhn and Cooper-Kuhn, 2007), and has been validated with independent measurements, such as C14-based birth dating (Spalding et al., 2013). Neurogenesis, however, comprises a complex cascade of cellular and molecular events, which are continuously being unveiled, thanks to the incessant development of technologies to track and influence generation and maturation of neurons. Immunostaining studies have provided information regarding the expression proteins at specific stages along the neurogenic trajectory (Knoth et al., 2010), which have also facilitated creation of transgenic lines and viral vectors that can be used for visualizing neural stem and progenitor cells and manipulating their function (Kuhn et al., 2018). The use of postmortem tissue for immunostaining has, however, constrained appreciation of the dynamic processes that lead to the generation of new neurons. Consequently, the development of novel technologies that allow in vivo, multiphoton imaging of hippocampal neurogenesis, has enabled researchers to uncover details on neural plasticity, progenitors' survival, and fate choices, that would have been difficult to estimate in fixed postmortem samples (Danielson et al., 2017; Goncalves et al., 2016a; Pilz et al., 2018). Furthermore, the establishment of lineage tracing techniques has revolutionized our understanding of fate commitment and development, particularly when these techniques are combined with multiomics analysis (Ratz et al., 2021; Weinreb et al., 2020). In model organisms, lineagetracing relies on engineered genetic tags that label cells and their progeny, such as constitutive expression of fluorescent reporters, integration of barcode libraries, and performing heritable genetic scars (Kester and van Oudenaarden, 2018; Wagner and Klein, 2020), all of which have helped us reconstruct lineage trees for developing organisms or stem cell niches (Weinreb et al., 2020). Lineage tracing in humans, on the other hand, exploits naturally occurring somatic mutations, which are propagated in the progeny of dividing cells, but absent in distantly related populations (Evrony et al., 2015; Hard et al., 2019). This can be achieved via whole-genome or targeted sequencing of specific mobile genetic elements, as well as by leveraging the high mutation rate of mitochondrial DNA (Ludwig et al., 2019). Single-cell transcriptomics analysis has, also, been performed by multiple laboratories to fully appreciate the complex molecular dynamics underlying neurogenesis in the subventricular zone (Llorens-Bobadilla et al., 2015; Zywitza et al., 2018) and dentate gyrus of mice (Hochgerner et al., 2018; Shin et al., 2015), and has provided a wealth of information regarding the transcriptional mechanisms implicated in the activation of neural stem cells, as well as their differentiation into mature neurons. These

investigations will be crucial to help us answer fundamental questions related to the heterogeneity of neural stem and progenitor cells, the molecular identifiers and functions of progenitors along the course of differentiation, as well as the differential vulnerability of cells and processes in the presence of neurological conditions.

6.3 SINGLE-CELL TRANSCRIPTOMICS

In the past decade, scRNA-seq has established itself as a groundbreaking tool that allows to investigate the transcriptional profile of cells at an unprecedented resolution, with the potential to completely revolutionize biomedical research. Since the pioneering study of Tang and colleagues (2009) that recorded mRNA expression in a single mouse blastomere, the field has progressed at an astonishing pace, and laboratories are now sampling hundreds of thousands of cells to characterize their behavior and composition in health and disease (Eraslan et al., 2021), as well as throughout development (Cao et al., 2019; La Manno et al., 2021) and across species (Bakken et al., 2021). Novel technological advances in the omics field are also enabling epigenomics profiling at the single-cell level (Buenrostro et al., 2015), as well as to determine transcriptional state along with its spatial organization (Stahl et al., 2016). Multiomic analysis is now even accessible in the same cell, for which we can record transcriptional information, along with genome-wide chromatin accessibility, and protein expression (Mimitou et al., 2021). Ultimately, multidimensional genomic measurements will bring us closer to better understanding gene regulation and will improve our abilities to predict cellular responses to genetic perturbations (Dixit et al., 2016; Kamimoto et al., 2020).

The scRNA-seq protocols rely on dissociation of tissue into single-cell suspensions and capture of RNA from each lysed cell, which is converted into complementary DNA (cDNA) by reverse transcription and PCR-amplified to obtain enough biological material for deep sequencing. Different chemistries have been developed for library preparation, and their use depends on the scientific question they are addressing. Full-length approaches, such as Smart-seq2 (Picelli et al., 2013; Picelli et al., 2014), can quantify specific transcript isoforms and be used to monitor allele-specific expression (Deng et al., 2014; Reinius et al., 2016). The scRNA-seq reactions in these protocols are generally performed in well-plates, are laborious and require relatively large volumes of reagents, which preclude carrying out affordable, large-scale experiments. Dropletbased methods, such as Drop-seq and inDrop, produce reads that are biased towards the 5' end, thus sacrificing full-length coverage, but rely on microfluidic platforms to perform the reactions, which grants cost-effective scaling of the experiment (Klein et al., 2015; Macosko et al., 2015). These approaches embed each cell in droplets before lysing, capturing mRNA molecules, and introducing cell-specific barcodes so that cells can be pooled and processed together. Furthermore, they incorporate the unique molecular identifier (UMI) technology (Kivioja et al., 2011), which enables estimation of absolute numbers of molecules to control for amplification bias during downstream analysis. Commercialization of the droplet-based technology by 10x Genomics has allowed popularization of high-throughput transcriptomics without the need of extensive technical expertise in microfluidics. Notably, the Smart-seq3 protocol was recently released, which combines the major advantages of each library preparation method, to obtain full-length coverage combined with UMI counting strategy (Hagemann-Jensen et al., 2020).

Paralleling the rapid technological advances, many computational tools have been developed to extract relevant biological information from scRNA-seq datasets. The statistical analysis of single-cell experiments is fundamentally different from classic gene expression queries owing to the unique structure of the data. The experimental procedure does not capture all mRNA molecules in each cell and genes are expressed in discrete bursts (Larsson et al., 2019). This leads to generating sparse matrices that require pre-processing and transformation to improve their interpretation. These initial steps generally include filtering of low-quality cells, followed by normalization of sequencing depth and logarithmic transformation of the data to equalize variance across genes that vary widely in expression levels. Subsequently, feature selection allows to identify genes that fluctuate more prominently across the dataset and that are, thus, more likely to reveal relevant biological variation. Finally, data are scaled and centered around the mean to allow easier comparison of transcriptional differences across cells. Several approaches have also been developed to deal with technical sources of variation, such as batch effects, which can be regressed out using linear models or accounted for in more sophisticated approaches (Butler et al., 2018). Doublets are two (or more) cells that share the same cellspecific barcode, which need to be handled to avoid misleading biological inferences. Multiple approaches have been designed to identify these outliers through generation of simulated doublets and training of machine learning algorithms to label cells in the sample based on similarity to the simulated data (Bernstein et al., 2020; McGinnis et al., 2019).

Following pre-processing, data can be visualized and grouped into populations to learn about sample composition. Visualization approaches aim at reducing the high dimensional structure of transcriptomics data to fewer (generally two) dimensions that retain at best the variation in the data but are easier to interpret. Uniform manifold approximation and projection (UMAP) is one such example that has gained popularity because it scales well with increasing size of datasets and because it is able to better retain the global structure of transcriptional data, compared to its predecessors (Becht et al., 2018). Cells can then be grouped in communities using different clustering approaches, such as k-means algorithms, which groups transcriptionally similar cells under a predetermined number of equally sized clusters, or graphbased methods, which can accurately handle clusters that vary in size, but whose performance heavily relies on how well transcriptional data are converted into a graph representation (Andrews and Hemberg, 2018). Clustering algorithms are employed to identify cell types and states that share transcriptional signatures, but there exists a trade-off between resolution limit and robustness of clustering, which may preclude identification of rare cell populations in one case or introduce irrelevant subdivisions of the dataset in the other. After identifying putative cell types, differential expression analysis is usually employed to determine cluster-specific transcriptional signatures.

In a developing system, cells may not be synchronized but can be found in a continuum of states. This allows scRNA-seq experiments that sample tissues at one timepoint to reconstruct a continuous dynamic process and order cells along the resulting trajectory. Multiple algorithms have been developed to perform this 'pseudotemporal' ordering, which can be used to infer developmental transitions in simple trajectories (Bendall et al., 2014; Qiu et al., 2017; Trapnell et al., 2014), as well as model branching lineage trees in datasets encompassing common progenitors along with progeny that differentiates into distinct cell types (Cao et al., 2019; Setty et al., 2016). This type of analysis can, thus, reveal gene expression dynamics that drive lineage fate specification and identify transcriptional signatures that may be implicated in fate decisions. Interestingly, an algorithm developed by La Manno and colleagues (2018) leverages knowledge of transcription kinetics to infer future gene expression based on proportions of unspliced and spliced mRNA molecules in each cell. This RNA velocity analysis allows to predict future cell states on a timescale of hours. Finally, algorithms have been developed to infer gene regulatory network activity based on co-expression of transcription factors and putative target genes with enriched transcription factor-binding motifs (Aibar et al., 2017; Van de Sande et al., 2020). Investigation of gene regulation with this type of analysis can be used to better understand the mechanisms that drive cell identity, as well as make predictions of cell fate conversions under transcription factor perturbation (Kamimoto et al., 2020).

Transcriptomics analysis has proven to be a powerful tool for dissecting tissue composition and cellular heterogeneity, and to study gene expression dynamics in development and disease conditions. Technological and computational advances in the field have enabled the scientific community to reveal and characterize novel cell types, as well as explore their functional relevance. These efforts are culminating in the ambitious production and dissemination of informative atlases of human tissues and model organisms (Bakken et al., 2021; Network, 2021; Osumi-Sutherland et al., 2021; Zeisel et al., 2018) that can ultimately aid better understanding of cellular behavior and promote the establishment of systematic, data-driven approaches for therapeutics development.

7 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

7.1 PAPER I

7.1.1 Summary of the results

This study builds on previous findings of the lab demonstrating that stroke pushes striatal astrocytes into neurogenesis, a process regulated by Notch signaling inhibition. Here, we use a conditional knock-out of Rbpj-K to silence Notch signaling and characterize the neurogenic program of striatal astrocytes using scRNA-seq technologies.

In pseudotemporal ordering, we see that parenchymal astrocytes are located upstream of neural stem cells. However, once activated, Notch-depleted astrocytes closely resemble subventricular zone neural stem cells in the cell states and molecular dynamics they originate. Additionally, striatal neurogenesis resembles hippocampal neurogenesis at the earliest stages, but it diverges through their differentiation, likely reflecting the different neuronal cell types each region gives rise to.

We analyzed astrocytes outside the striatum and show that, albeit they fail to undertake the full neurogenic program, they too upregulate expression of neural stem cell genes.

Finally, we demonstrate that striatal astrocytes that are halted at the pre-division stage can be recruited to produce greater numbers of transit-amplifying cells and neuroblasts via administration of EGF.

7.1.2 Discussion for Paper I

The brain has poor regenerative capacity and efforts towards achieving functional recovery recognize the importance of replacing neurons that are lost to injury. Recruitment of endogenous cells with neural stem cell capabilities is an attractive strategy for replacing neurons and astrocytes represent a valuable source of resident cells for this purpose.

The present study aimed at characterizing the neurogenic program of striatal astrocytes following inhibition of Notch signaling and demonstrated that the molecular dynamics delineating the astrocyte-to-neuron transition are near-identical to those seen in canonical neurogenesis. We further demonstrate that even astrocytes that fail to be recruited into transit-amplifying division show activation of a neural stem cell program.

Our data, thus, suggests that all astrocytes may have potential to generate new neurons given the right molecular cues. Additionally, once recruited into neurogenesis, striatal astrocytes give rise to the same cell types and activate largely similar molecular programs as seen in subventricular zone neurogenesis, further supporting our view of parenchymal astrocytes as a form of latent neural stem cells.

7.2 PAPER II

7.2.1 Summary of the results

In this study we showed that cortical astrocytes retain the potential to generate neurons. Their neurogenic program is activated following Notch depletion, via conditional deletion of Rbpj-K, and when animals are subjected to a stab wound injury.

We further demonstrate that the neurogenic potential of astrocytes is not restricted to specific regions of the mouse neocortex but could be revealed across distal structures, as well as among all cortical layers.

We show that silencing of Notch signaling elicits a neural stem cell program in the astrocytes, regardless of injury. However, it is only after injury that glia undergo cell division and generate neuroblasts committed to mature into cortical interneurons.

Furthermore, we suggest that the neurogenic program can unfold irrespective of reactive gliosis, and that it recapitulates molecular dynamics characteristics of canonical neurogenesis.

7.2.2 Discussion for Paper II

Our previous investigations suggested that astrocytes may be considered as a source of neurogenic cells to replace neurons lost to injury. Notch signaling inhibition forces striatal astrocytes into the neurogenic program, but the same fate is not shared by glia in other regions of the brain. In order to demonstrate the widespread potential of astrocytes for cell replacement therapies, we turned to the cortex to show that Rbpj-K depleted astrocytes can, in fact, undergo neurogenesis in response to injury.

Similar to our previous findings, we confirm that Rbpj-K deletion alone results in the activation of a neural stem cell program in astrocytes throughout the cortical layers, whereas it is only after injury that cortical cells engage in transit-amplifying division.

We demonstrate high transcriptional similarity between neurogenesis by cortical astrocytes and by subventricular zone stem cells and show that cortical cells are committed to generate GABAergic interneurons.

The data produced in this study may represent a valuable resource to learn the mechanisms that drive the commitment of astrocytes to the neurogenic fate and may support identification of molecular cues that enhance their recruitment. This study, further, supports the idea that astrocytes are a precious source of latent neural stem cells. It, also, suggests that the same regenerative behavior is shared among glia from different cortical layers and regions, indicating that astrocytes may be recruited for repair following types of damage and diseases that interest different cortical structures.

7.3 PAPER III

7.3.1 Summary of the results

This manuscript aims at characterizing the molecular profile of cells across the neurogenic program in the human hippocampus. We profiled about 500,000 cells from childhood and adult dentate gyri and identified all major cell types, including neural stem and progenitor cells.

With the childhood dataset we performed an in-depth characterization of the transition from neural stem cells to neurons and identified markers describing cells at each state.

We compared juvenile human and mouse neurogenic programs and demonstrated similar transcriptional dynamics occurring between the two species.

The childhood dataset served as reference for integration with the adult samples and allowed us to identify adult cells with a transcriptional profile resembling that of the childhood neurogenic cells. Following identification of adult hippocampal neurogenic cells, we characterized them molecularly to detect their active gene regulatory network and specific cell type markers.

7.3.2 Discussion for Paper III

Hippocampal neurogenesis is important for memory formation and mood regulation and alterations in the neurogenic process has been linked to psychiatric and neurodegenerative conditions. Studies of adult hippocampal neurogenesis has relied on model animals for characterizing neural stem and progenitor cells contributing to the addition of young neurons to the hippocampal neural circuit. The molecular characteristics of human neurogenic cells have instead remained elusive due to the challenges of working with human specimens.

In this study, we leveraged the high-throughput and transcriptome-wide resolution of snRNA-seq experiments to provide a comprehensive characterization of the molecular profile of human neurogenesis across cell states, as well as throughout ages. We were able to identify neural stem cells, dividing and postmitotic progenitors, as well as immature neurons and show combinations of markers that distinguish each cell state. We, further, provided a characterization of active gene regulatory networks across the neurogenic trajectory and compared childhood and adult programs in terms of numbers of cells captured and their molecular features.

We also performed a cross-species comparison to assess how closely related are mouse and human neurogenic programs. We found good overlap of cell types between species and obtained collections of conserved cell type markers that reflect the overall similarity of the transcriptional programs undertaken by the neural stem cells in the two species. This investigation, thus, supports the use of mice as a valuable model organism to study adult neurogenesis, but also provides a resource for identifying molecular mechanisms that are unique to the neurogenic program in each species.

Ultimately, we hope that our molecular characterization of human neurogenesis will facilitate further investigations into its (dys-)regulation in health and disease.

8 CONCLUSIONS

The work presented in this thesis aims at proposing parenchymal astrocytes as a valuable source of latent neural stem cells that can be recruited, given the right molecular cues, to mount a regenerative response after injury in the adult brain. We have shown that astrocytes from different brain regions retain the potential to generate new neurons in response to Notch signaling inhibition and traumatic injury. Once recruited, the neurogenic program of parenchymal glia follows remarkably similar molecular dynamics as seen in canonical neurogenesis. This suggests that a better understanding of the adult neural stem cell behavior and the mechanisms that drive their activation and neuronal specification in the germinal niches may help us develop therapies that promote efficient conversion of astrocytes into neurons. We have worked towards this end to characterize the neurogenic trajectory of human hippocampal neurogenesis and produced a rich compendium of transcriptional data that can be exploited to learn about key transcriptional signatures of the neurogenic cells. Because the brain is incapable of fully repairing itself after injury, treatments that aim at replacing neurons lost to injury have the potential to rebuild neural circuits and achieve recovery of tissue functionality that are otherwise difficult to attain. Future studies in this field will have to determine if the same molecular mechanisms implicated in canonical neurogenesis to activate quiescent stem cells can be utilized to unfold an astroglial neurogenic program. Furthermore, future research may help us determine how to effectively integrate the new neurons in pre-existing neural circuits to provide functional recovery. Finally, it remains to be established whether astrocytes have the potential to replace neurons in different disease conditions, such as in neurodegenerative diseases.

9 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my main supervisor, **Jonas Frisén**, for giving me the wonderful opportunity to work in the lab. You have always been supportive and available, while giving me the freedom and flexibility to pursue the research questions I was passionate about. These years have been the most fun and stimulating of my life. Thank you also to my co-supervisor **András Simon** for your support.

I would also like to thank all my colleagues, past and present. Jens Magnusson for introducing me to the stars of the brain. Giuseppe Santopolo for being an amazing friend and supportive colleague: I've been missing having you around the past year and I'm happy you didn't end up moving too far! Enric Llorens-Bobadilla, for teaching me a ton and always being excited to talk about new findings. I feel so lucky to have had the chance to work with you during the PhD and I'm thrilled to see what awaits me in the postdoctoral adventure. Ionut Dumitru, for always making sure I was well fed with the constant provision of cookies and for involving me in the adult neurogenesis quest. Camilla Engblom, for sharing the maternity adventure and making it a whole lot of fun. Ilke Demirci, for always cheering me up with the latest gossip and the crazy nights out (although it's been a while since I last managed to join). Martyna Lukoseviciute, for the inspiring science and career talks after our dance lessons. Carl-Johan Eriksson, for making the last experiments in the animal house much more enjoyable. Johanna Classon, for including me on cool new projects. Helena Lönnqvist for an endless supply of the hottest chili peppers and your help in the lab throughout the years. Thank you also to **Kanar** Alkass, Sarantis Giatrellis, Joanna Hård, Qirong Lin, Jeff Mold, Marta Paterlini, Michael Ratz, Moa Stenudd, Embla Steiner, Mathew Tata, Leonie von Berlin, you have made Frisén lab a great place to work. I am incredibly fortunate to have been a part of such an amazing team of inspiring scientists and great friends.

Thank you also to Marion, Enikő and Áron, Elin and Leland, Mehdi, Michel and Mod, Aga, Sinan, Isak, Alexandra, Maëlle, Ernesto, Alrik, Alvaro, and all the other friends in Sweden who have made me feel home during the past five years.

A big thank you to my wonderful parents **Raffaella** and **Sandro**, my brother **Jacopo**, my sisters **Martina** and **Xiaolu**, and my nephew (and newest addition to the family) **Enrico**, for all the love and support throughout the years. Thank you also to my American family, **Emily** and **Dan** for welcoming me so warmly.

Finally, I would like to thank my amazing husband **John Paul**, for your love and for incessantly trying to instill some confidence in me. You have given me the strength to pursue my life's passions no matter how challenging. And forever thank you for giving me the most wonderful and loving family, **Melvin**, **Ray**, **Pinguin**, and our beautiful and perfect son **Oliver Gene**.

10 REFERENCES

Abbott, N.J., Ronnback, L., and Hansson, E. (2006). Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier. Nat Rev Neurosci 7, 41-53.

Adachi, K., Mirzadeh, Z., Sakaguchi, M., Yamashita, T., Nikolcheva, T., Gotoh, Y., Peltz, G., Gong, L., Kawase, T., Alvarez-Buylla, A., *et al.* (2007). Beta-catenin signaling promotes proliferation of progenitor cells in the adult mouse subventricular zone. Stem Cells *25*, 2827-2836.

Adamsky, A., Kol, A., Kreisel, T., Doron, A., Ozeri-Engelhard, N., Melcer, T., Refaeli, R., Horn, H., Regev, L., Groysman, M., *et al.* (2018). Astrocytic Activation Generates De Novo Neuronal Potentiation and Memory Enhancement. Cell *174*, 59-71 e14.

Aibar, S., Gonzalez-Blas, C.B., Moerman, T., Huynh-Thu, V.A., Imrichova, H., Hulselmans, G., Rambow, F., Marine, J.C., Geurts, P., Aerts, J., *et al.* (2017). SCENIC: single-cell regulatory network inference and clustering. Nat Methods *14*, 1083-1086.

Akers, K.G., Martinez-Canabal, A., Restivo, L., Yiu, A.P., De Cristofaro, A., Hsiang, H.L., Wheeler, A.L., Guskjolen, A., Niibori, Y., Shoji, H., *et al.* (2014). Hippocampal neurogenesis regulates forgetting during adulthood and infancy. Science *344*, 598-602.

Allen, N.J., and Eroglu, C. (2017). Cell Biology of Astrocyte-Synapse Interactions. Neuron *96*, 697-708.

Altman, J., and Das, G.D. (1965). Autoradiographic and histological evidence of postnatal hippocampal neurogenesis in rats. J Comp Neurol 124, 319-335.

Anacker, C., and Hen, R. (2017). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis and cognitive flexibility linking memory and mood. Nat Rev Neurosci 18, 335-346.

Anacker, C., Luna, V.M., Stevens, G.S., Millette, A., Shores, R., Jimenez, J.C., Chen, B., and Hen, R. (2018). Hippocampal neurogenesis confers stress resilience by inhibiting the ventral dentate gyrus. Nature *559*, 98-102.

Anderson, M.A., Burda, J.E., Ren, Y., Ao, Y., O'Shea, T.M., Kawaguchi, R., Coppola, G., Khakh, B.S., Deming, T.J., and Sofroniew, M.V. (2016). Astrocyte scar formation aids central nervous system axon regeneration. Nature *532*, 195-200.

Anderson, M.A., O'Shea, T.M., Burda, J.E., Ao, Y., Barlatey, S.L., Bernstein, A.M., Kim, J.H., James, N.D., Rogers, A., Kato, B., *et al.* (2018). Required growth facilitators propel axon regeneration across complete spinal cord injury. Nature *561*, 396-400.

Andrews, T.S., and Hemberg, M. (2018). Identifying cell populations with scRNASeq. Mol Aspects Med *59*, 114-122.

Araque, A., Carmignoto, G., Haydon, P.G., Oliet, S.H., Robitaille, R., and Volterra, A. (2014). Gliotransmitters travel in time and space. Neuron *81*, 728-739.

Arvidsson, A., Collin, T., Kirik, D., Kokaia, Z., and Lindvall, O. (2002). Neuronal replacement from endogenous precursors in the adult brain after stroke. Nat Med *8*, 963-970.

Ayhan, F., Kulkarni, A., Berto, S., Sivaprakasam, K., Douglas, C., Lega, B.C., and Konopka, G. (2021). Resolving cellular and molecular diversity along the hippocampal anterior-to-posterior axis in humans. Neuron *109*, 2091-2105 e2096.

Azim, K., Fischer, B., Hurtado-Chong, A., Draganova, K., Cantu, C., Zemke, M., Sommer, L., Butt, A., and Raineteau, O. (2014). Persistent Wnt/beta-catenin signaling determines

dorsalization of the postnatal subventricular zone and neural stem cell specification into oligodendrocytes and glutamatergic neurons. Stem Cells 32, 1301-1312.

Bakken, T.E., Jorstad, N.L., Hu, Q., Lake, B.B., Tian, W., Kalmbach, B.E., Crow, M., Hodge, R.D., Krienen, F.M., Sorensen, S.A., *et al.* (2021). Comparative cellular analysis of motor cortex in human, marmoset and mouse. Nature *598*, 111-119.

Banker, G.A. (1980). Trophic interactions between astroglial cells and hippocampal neurons in culture. Science *209*, 809-810.

Bardehle, S., Kruger, M., Buggenthin, F., Schwausch, J., Ninkovic, J., Clevers, H., Snippert, H.J., Theis, F.J., Meyer-Luehmann, M., Bechmann, I., *et al.* (2013). Live imaging of astrocyte responses to acute injury reveals selective juxtavascular proliferation. Nat Neurosci *16*, 580-586.

Barker, R.A. (2014). Developing stem cell therapies for Parkinson's disease: waiting until the time is right. Cell Stem Cell *15*, 539-542.

Barker, R.A., and consortium, T. (2019). Designing stem-cell-based dopamine cell replacement trials for Parkinson's disease. Nat Med *25*, 1045-1053.

Barker, R.A., Drouin-Ouellet, J., and Parmar, M. (2015). Cell-based therapies for Parkinson disease-past insights and future potential. Nat Rev Neurol 11, 492-503.

Barnabe-Heider, F., Goritz, C., Sabelstrom, H., Takebayashi, H., Pfrieger, F.W., Meletis, K., and Frisen, J. (2010). Origin of new glial cells in intact and injured adult spinal cord. Cell Stem Cell *7*, 470-482.

Barres, B.A. (2008). The mystery and magic of glia: a perspective on their roles in health and disease. Neuron *60*, 430-440.

Baser, A., Skabkin, M., Kleber, S., Dang, Y., Gulculer Balta, G.S., Kalamakis, G., Gopferich, M., Ibanez, D.C., Schefzik, R., Lopez, A.S., *et al.* (2019). Onset of differentiation is post-transcriptionally controlled in adult neural stem cells. Nature *566*, 100-104.

Batiuk, M.Y., Martirosyan, A., Wahis, J., de Vin, F., Marneffe, C., Kusserow, C., Koeppen, J., Viana, J.F., Oliveira, J.F., Voet, T., *et al.* (2020). Identification of region-specific astrocyte subtypes at single cell resolution. Nat Commun 11, 1220.

Battista, D., Ferrari, C.C., Gage, F.H., and Pitossi, F.J. (2006). Neurogenic niche modulation by activated microglia: transforming growth factor beta increases neurogenesis in the adult dentate gyrus. Eur J Neurosci *23*, 83-93.

Battista, D., Ganat, Y., El Maarouf, A., Studer, L., and Rutishauser, U. (2014). Enhancement of polysialic acid expression improves function of embryonic stem-derived dopamine neuron grafts in Parkinsonian mice. Stem Cells Transl Med *3*, 108-113.

Bayraktar, O.A., Bartels, T., Holmqvist, S., Kleshchevnikov, V., Martirosyan, A., Polioudakis, D., Ben Haim, L., Young, A.M.H., Batiuk, M.Y., Prakash, K., *et al.* (2020). Astrocyte layers in the mammalian cerebral cortex revealed by a single-cell in situ transcriptomic map. Nat Neurosci *23*, 500-509.

Becht, E., McInnes, L., Healy, J., Dutertre, C.A., Kwok, I.W.H., Ng, L.G., Ginhoux, F., and Newell, E.W. (2018). Dimensionality reduction for visualizing single-cell data using UMAP. Nat Biotechnol.

Beiersdorfer, A., Scheller, A., Kirchhoff, F., and Lohr, C. (2019). Panglial gap junctions between astrocytes and olfactory ensheathing cells mediate transmission of Ca(2+) transients and neurovascular coupling. Glia *67*, 1385-1400.

Belluzzi, O., Benedusi, M., Ackman, J., and LoTurco, J.J. (2003). Electrophysiological differentiation of new neurons in the olfactory bulb. J Neurosci 23, 10411-10418.

Ben Haim, L., and Rowitch, D.H. (2017). Functional diversity of astrocytes in neural circuit regulation. Nat Rev Neurosci 18, 31-41.

Bendall, S.C., Davis, K.L., Amir el, A.D., Tadmor, M.D., Simonds, E.F., Chen, T.J., Shenfeld, D.K., Nolan, G.P., and Pe'er, D. (2014). Single-cell trajectory detection uncovers progression and regulatory coordination in human B cell development. Cell *157*, 714-725.

Benraiss, A., Wang, S., Herrlinger, S., Li, X., Chandler-Militello, D., Mauceri, J., Burm, H.B., Toner, M., Osipovitch, M., Jim Xu, Q., *et al.* (2016). Human glia can both induce and rescue aspects of disease phenotype in Huntington disease. Nat Commun 7, 11758.

Berger, T., Lee, H., Young, A.H., Aarsland, D., and Thuret, S. (2020). Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Major Depressive Disorder and Alzheimer's Disease. Trends Mol Med *26*, 803-818.

Bergmann, O., Liebl, J., Bernard, S., Alkass, K., Yeung, M.S., Steier, P., Kutschera, W., Johnson, L., Landen, M., Druid, H., *et al.* (2012). The age of olfactory bulb neurons in humans. Neuron *74*, 634-639.

Bernstein, N.J., Fong, N.L., Lam, I., Roy, M.A., Hendrickson, D.G., and Kelley, D.R. (2020). Solo: Doublet Identification in Single-Cell RNA-Seq via Semi-Supervised Deep Learning. Cell Syst *11*, 95-101 e105.

Biscaro, B., Lindvall, O., Tesco, G., Ekdahl, C.T., and Nitsch, R.M. (2012). Inhibition of microglial activation protects hippocampal neurogenesis and improves cognitive deficits in a transgenic mouse model for Alzheimer's disease. Neurodegener Dis *9*, 187-198.

Boldrini, M., Fulmore, C.A., Tartt, A.N., Simeon, L.R., Pavlova, I., Poposka, V., Rosoklija, G.B., Stankov, A., Arango, V., Dwork, A.J., *et al.* (2018). Human Hippocampal Neurogenesis Persists throughout Aging. Cell Stem Cell *22*, 589-599 e585.

Bonaguidi, M.A., Wheeler, M.A., Shapiro, J.S., Stadel, R.P., Sun, G.J., Ming, G.L., and Song, H. (2011). In vivo clonal analysis reveals self-renewing and multipotent adult neural stem cell characteristics. Cell *145*, 1142-1155.

Bragado Alonso, S., Reinert, J.K., Marichal, N., Massalini, S., Berninger, B., Kuner, T., and Calegari, F. (2019). An increase in neural stem cells and olfactory bulb adult neurogenesis improves discrimination of highly similar odorants. EMBO J 38.

Bribian, A., Figueres-Onate, M., Martin-Lopez, E., and Lopez-Mascaraque, L. (2016). Decoding astrocyte heterogeneity: New tools for clonal analysis. Neuroscience *323*, 10-19.

Briggs, J.A., Weinreb, C., Wagner, D.E., Megason, S., Peshkin, L., Kirschner, M.W., and Klein, A.M. (2018). The dynamics of gene expression in vertebrate embryogenesis at single-cell resolution. Science *360*.

Buenrostro, J.D., Wu, B., Litzenburger, U.M., Ruff, D., Gonzales, M.L., Snyder, M.P., Chang, H.Y., and Greenleaf, W.J. (2015). Single-cell chromatin accessibility reveals principles of regulatory variation. Nature *523*, 486-490.

Buffo, A., Vosko, M.R., Erturk, D., Hamann, G.F., Jucker, M., Rowitch, D., and Gotz, M. (2005). Expression pattern of the transcription factor Olig2 in response to brain injuries: implications for neuronal repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 18183-18188.

- Butler, A., Hoffman, P., Smibert, P., Papalexi, E., and Satija, R. (2018). Integrating single-cell transcriptomic data across different conditions, technologies, and species. Nat Biotechnol *36*, 411-420.
- Butti, E., Bacigaluppi, M., Rossi, S., Cambiaghi, M., Bari, M., Cebrian Silla, A., Brambilla, E., Musella, A., De Ceglia, R., Teneud, L., *et al.* (2012). Subventricular zone neural progenitors protect striatal neurons from glutamatergic excitotoxicity. Brain *135*, 3320-3335.
- Cahoy, J.D., Emery, B., Kaushal, A., Foo, L.C., Zamanian, J.L., Christopherson, K.S., Xing, Y., Lubischer, J.L., Krieg, P.A., Krupenko, S.A., *et al.* (2008). A transcriptome database for astrocytes, neurons, and oligodendrocytes: a new resource for understanding brain development and function. J Neurosci *28*, 264-278.
- Calzolari, F., Michel, J., Baumgart, E.V., Theis, F., Gotz, M., and Ninkovic, J. (2015). Fast clonal expansion and limited neural stem cell self-renewal in the adult subependymal zone. Nat Neurosci 18, 490-492.
- Cameron, H.A., and McKay, R.D. (2001). Adult neurogenesis produces a large pool of new granule cells in the dentate gyrus. J Comp Neurol *435*, 406-417.
- Canals, I., Quist, E., and Ahlenius, H. (2021). Transcription Factor-Based Strategies to Generate Neural Cell Types from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. Cell Reprogram *23*, 206-220.
- Cao, J., Spielmann, M., Qiu, X., Huang, X., Ibrahim, D.M., Hill, A.J., Zhang, F., Mundlos, S., Christiansen, L., Steemers, F.J., *et al.* (2019). The single-cell transcriptional landscape of mammalian organogenesis. Nature *566*, 496-502.
- Carlen, M., Meletis, K., Goritz, C., Darsalia, V., Evergren, E., Tanigaki, K., Amendola, M., Barnabe-Heider, F., Yeung, M.S., Naldini, L., *et al.* (2009). Forebrain ependymal cells are Notch-dependent and generate neuroblasts and astrocytes after stroke. Nat Neurosci *12*, 259-267.
- Chai, H., Diaz-Castro, B., Shigetomi, E., Monte, E., Octeau, J.C., Yu, X., Cohn, W., Rajendran, P.S., Vondriska, T.M., Whitelegge, J.P., *et al.* (2017). Neural Circuit-Specialized Astrocytes: Transcriptomic, Proteomic, Morphological, and Functional Evidence. Neuron *95*, 531-549 e539.
- Chancey, J.H., Adlaf, E.W., Sapp, M.C., Pugh, P.C., Wadiche, J.I., and Overstreet-Wadiche, L.S. (2013). GABA depolarization is required for experience-dependent synapse unsilencing in adult-born neurons. J Neurosci *33*, 6614-6622.
- Chanda, S., Ang, C.E., Davila, J., Pak, C., Mall, M., Lee, Q.Y., Ahlenius, H., Jung, S.W., Sudhof, T.C., and Wernig, M. (2014). Generation of induced neuronal cells by the single reprogramming factor ASCL1. Stem Cell Reports *3*, 282-296.
- Chapman, K.Z., Ge, R., Monni, E., Tatarishvili, J., Ahlenius, H., Arvidsson, A., Ekdahl, C.T., Lindvall, O., and Kokaia, Z. (2015). Inflammation without neuronal death triggers striatal neurogenesis comparable to stroke. Neurobiol Dis 83, 1-15.
- Chen, M., Geoffroy, C.G., Meves, J.M., Narang, A., Li, Y., Nguyen, M.T., Khai, V.S., Kong, X., Steinke, C.L., Carolino, K.I., *et al.* (2018). Leucine Zipper-Bearing Kinase Is a Critical Regulator of Astrocyte Reactivity in the Adult Mammalian CNS. Cell Rep *22*, 3587-3597.
- Cho, K.O., Lybrand, Z.R., Ito, N., Brulet, R., Tafacory, F., Zhang, L., Good, L., Ure, K., Kernie, S.G., Birnbaum, S.G., *et al.* (2015). Aberrant hippocampal neurogenesis contributes to epilepsy and associated cognitive decline. Nat Commun *6*, 6606.

Christopherson, K.S., Ullian, E.M., Stokes, C.C., Mullowney, C.E., Hell, J.W., Agah, A., Lawler, J., Mosher, D.F., Bornstein, P., and Barres, B.A. (2005). Thrombospondins are astrocyte-secreted proteins that promote CNS synaptogenesis. Cell *120*, 421-433.

Cisbani, G., and Cicchetti, F. (2014). The fate of cell grafts for the treatment of Huntington's disease: the post-mortem evidence. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 40, 71-90.

Clarke, L.E., Liddelow, S.A., Chakraborty, C., Munch, A.E., Heiman, M., and Barres, B.A. (2018). Normal aging induces A1-like astrocyte reactivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *115*, E1896-E1905.

Clelland, C.D., Choi, M., Romberg, C., Clemenson, G.D., Jr., Fragniere, A., Tyers, P., Jessberger, S., Saksida, L.M., Barker, R.A., Gage, F.H., *et al.* (2009). A functional role for adult hippocampal neurogenesis in spatial pattern separation. Science *325*, 210-213.

Codega, P., Silva-Vargas, V., Paul, A., Maldonado-Soto, A.R., Deleo, A.M., Pastrana, E., and Doetsch, F. (2014). Prospective identification and purification of quiescent adult neural stem cells from their in vivo niche. Neuron *82*, 545-559.

Cope, E.C., and Gould, E. (2019). Adult Neurogenesis, Glia, and the Extracellular Matrix. Cell Stem Cell *24*, 690-705.

Costa, M.R., Ortega, F., Brill, M.S., Beckervordersandforth, R., Petrone, C., Schroeder, T., Gotz, M., and Berninger, B. (2011). Continuous live imaging of adult neural stem cell division and lineage progression in vitro. Development *138*, 1057-1068.

Cuartero, M.I., de la Parra, J., Perez-Ruiz, A., Bravo-Ferrer, I., Duran-Laforet, V., Garcia-Culebras, A., Garcia-Segura, J.M., Dhaliwal, J., Frankland, P.W., Lizasoain, I., *et al.* (2019). Abolition of aberrant neurogenesis ameliorates cognitive impairment after stroke in mice. J Clin Invest *129*, 1536-1550.

Cyranoski, D. (2018a). How human embryonic stem cells sparked a revolution. Nature 555, 428-430.

Cyranoski, D. (2018b). 'Reprogrammed' stem cells approved to mend human hearts for the first time. Nature *557*, 619-620.

Dahlman, J.E., Abudayyeh, O.O., Joung, J., Gootenberg, J.S., Zhang, F., and Konermann, S. (2015). Orthogonal gene knockout and activation with a catalytically active Cas9 nuclease. Nat Biotechnol *33*, 1159-1161.

Danielson, N.B., Turi, G.F., Ladow, M., Chavlis, S., Petrantonakis, P.C., Poirazi, P., and Losonczy, A. (2017). In Vivo Imaging of Dentate Gyrus Mossy Cells in Behaving Mice. Neuron *93*, 552-559 e554.

Dayer, A.G., Cleaver, K.M., Abouantoun, T., and Cameron, H.A. (2005). New GABAergic interneurons in the adult neocortex and striatum are generated from different precursors. J Cell Biol *168*, 415-427.

Delgado, R.N., and Lim, D.A. (2015). Embryonic Nkx2.1-expressing neural precursor cells contribute to the regional heterogeneity of adult V-SVZ neural stem cells. Dev Biol 407, 265-274.

Deng, Q., Ramskold, D., Reinius, B., and Sandberg, R. (2014). Single-cell RNA-seq reveals dynamic, random monoallelic gene expression in mammalian cells. Science *343*, 193-196.

Di Giorgio, F.P., Carrasco, M.A., Siao, M.C., Maniatis, T., and Eggan, K. (2007). Non-cell autonomous effect of glia on motor neurons in an embryonic stem cell-based ALS model. Nat Neurosci *10*, 608-614.

- Dias, D.O., Kim, H., Holl, D., Werne Solnestam, B., Lundeberg, J., Carlen, M., Goritz, C., and Frisen, J. (2018). Reducing Pericyte-Derived Scarring Promotes Recovery after Spinal Cord Injury. Cell *173*, 153-165 e122.
- Dixit, A., Parnas, O., Li, B., Chen, J., Fulco, C.P., Jerby-Arnon, L., Marjanovic, N.D., Dionne, D., Burks, T., Raychowdhury, R., *et al.* (2016). Perturb-Seq: Dissecting Molecular Circuits with Scalable Single-Cell RNA Profiling of Pooled Genetic Screens. Cell *167*, 1853-1866 e1817.
- Doetsch, F., Caille, I., Lim, D.A., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1999). Subventricular zone astrocytes are neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain. Cell *97*, 703-716.
- Dorst, M.C., Diaz-Moreno, M., Dias, D.O., Guimaraes, E.L., Holl, D., Kalkitsas, J., Silberberg, G., and Goritz, C. (2021). Astrocyte-derived neurons provide excitatory input to the adult striatal circuitry. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *118*.
- Dulken, B.W., Leeman, D.S., Boutet, S.C., Hebestreit, K., and Brunet, A. (2017). Single-Cell Transcriptomic Analysis Defines Heterogeneity and Transcriptional Dynamics in the Adult Neural Stem Cell Lineage. Cell Rep *18*, 777-790.
- Dumitru, I., Paterlini M.†, Zamboni, M. ‡, Ziegenhain, C. ‡, Giatrellis, S., Alkass, K., Druid, H., Sandberg, R. and Frisén, J. (manuscript). Delineation of a neurogenic cell trajectory in the human hippocampus.
- Ekdahl, C.T., Claasen, J.H., Bonde, S., Kokaia, Z., and Lindvall, O. (2003). Inflammation is detrimental for neurogenesis in adult brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 13632-13637.
- Eraslan, G., Drokhlyansky, E., Anand, S., Subramanian, A., Fiskin, E., Slyper, M., Wang, J., Wittenberghe, N.V., Rouhana, J.M., Waldman, J., *et al.* (2021). Single-nucleus cross-tissue molecular reference maps to decipher disease gene function. bioRxiv, 2021.2007.2019.452954.
- Eriksson, P.S., Perfilieva, E., Bjork-Eriksson, T., Alborn, A.M., Nordborg, C., Peterson, D.A., and Gage, F.H. (1998). Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat Med *4*, 1313-1317.
- Ernst, A., Alkass, K., Bernard, S., Salehpour, M., Perl, S., Tisdale, J., Possnert, G., Druid, H., and Frisen, J. (2014). Neurogenesis in the striatum of the adult human brain. Cell *156*, 1072-1083.
- Escartin, C., Galea, E., Lakatos, A., O'Callaghan, J.P., Petzold, G.C., Serrano-Pozo, A., Steinhauser, C., Volterra, A., Carmignoto, G., Agarwal, A., *et al.* (2021). Reactive astrocyte nomenclature, definitions, and future directions. Nat Neurosci *24*, 312-325.
- Espuny-Camacho, I., Arranz, A.M., Fiers, M., Snellinx, A., Ando, K., Munck, S., Bonnefont, J., Lambot, L., Corthout, N., Omodho, L., *et al.* (2017). Hallmarks of Alzheimer's Disease in Stem-Cell-Derived Human Neurons Transplanted into Mouse Brain. Neuron *93*, 1066-1081 e1068.
- Espuny-Camacho, I., Michelsen, K.A., Gall, D., Linaro, D., Hasche, A., Bonnefont, J., Bali, C., Orduz, D., Bilheu, A., Herpoel, A., *et al.* (2013). Pyramidal neurons derived from human pluripotent stem cells integrate efficiently into mouse brain circuits in vivo. Neuron 77, 440-456.
- Evrony, G.D., Lee, E., Mehta, B.K., Benjamini, Y., Johnson, R.M., Cai, X., Yang, L., Haseley, P., Lehmann, H.S., Park, P.J., *et al.* (2015). Cell lineage analysis in human brain using endogenous retroelements. Neuron *85*, 49-59.

- Faiz, M., Sachewsky, N., Gascon, S., Bang, K.W., Morshead, C.M., and Nagy, A. (2015). Adult Neural Stem Cells from the Subventricular Zone Give Rise to Reactive Astrocytes in the Cortex after Stroke. Cell Stem Cell *17*, 624-634.
- Falkner, S., Grade, S., Dimou, L., Conzelmann, K.K., Bonhoeffer, T., Gotz, M., and Hubener, M. (2016). Transplanted embryonic neurons integrate into adult neocortical circuits. Nature *539*, 248-253.
- Ferron, S.R., Charalambous, M., Radford, E., McEwen, K., Wildner, H., Hind, E., Morante-Redolat, J.M., Laborda, J., Guillemot, F., Bauer, S.R., *et al.* (2011). Postnatal loss of Dlk1 imprinting in stem cells and niche astrocytes regulates neurogenesis. Nature *475*, 381-385.
- Figueres-Onate, M., Garcia-Marques, J., and Lopez-Mascaraque, L. (2016). UbC-StarTrack, a clonal method to target the entire progeny of individual progenitors. Sci Rep *6*, 33896.
- Fischer, T., Scheffler, P., and Lohr, C. (2020). Dopamine-induced calcium signaling in olfactory bulb astrocytes. Sci Rep *10*, 631.
- Foo, L.C., Allen, N.J., Bushong, E.A., Ventura, P.B., Chung, W.S., Zhou, L., Cahoy, J.D., Daneman, R., Zong, H., Ellisman, M.H., *et al.* (2011). Development of a method for the purification and culture of rodent astrocytes. Neuron *71*, 799-811.
- Franjic, D., Skarica, M., Ma, S., Arellano, J.I., Tebbenkamp, A.T.N., Choi, J., Xu, C., Li, Q., Morozov, Y.M., Andrijevic, D., *et al.* (2021). Transcriptomic taxonomy and neurogenic trajectories of adult human, macaque, and pig hippocampal and entorhinal cells. Neuron.
- Freeman, M.R., and Rowitch, D.H. (2013). Evolving concepts of gliogenesis: a look way back and ahead to the next 25 years. Neuron 80, 613-623.
- Frik, J., Merl-Pham, J., Plesnila, N., Mattugini, N., Kjell, J., Kraska, J., Gomez, R.M., Hauck, S.M., Sirko, S., and Gotz, M. (2018). Cross-talk between monocyte invasion and astrocyte proliferation regulates scarring in brain injury. EMBO Rep *19*.
- Fuentealba, L.C., Rompani, S.B., Parraguez, J.I., Obernier, K., Romero, R., Cepko, C.L., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2015). Embryonic Origin of Postnatal Neural Stem Cells. Cell *161*, 1644-1655.
- Furutachi, S., Miya, H., Watanabe, T., Kawai, H., Yamasaki, N., Harada, Y., Imayoshi, I., Nelson, M., Nakayama, K.I., Hirabayashi, Y., *et al.* (2015). Slowly dividing neural progenitors are an embryonic origin of adult neural stem cells. Nat Neurosci *18*, 657-665.
- Gage, F.H. (2019). Adult neurogenesis in mammals. Science 364, 827-828.
- Gage, F.H., Coates, P.W., Palmer, T.D., Kuhn, H.G., Fisher, L.J., Suhonen, J.O., Peterson, D.A., Suhr, S.T., and Ray, J. (1995). Survival and differentiation of adult neuronal progenitor cells transplanted to the adult brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 11879-11883.
- Ganat, Y.M., Calder, E.L., Kriks, S., Nelander, J., Tu, E.Y., Jia, F., Battista, D., Harrison, N., Parmar, M., Tomishima, M.J., *et al.* (2012). Identification of embryonic stem cell-derived midbrain dopaminergic neurons for engraftment. J Clin Invest *122*, 2928-2939.
- Gascon, S., Murenu, E., Masserdotti, G., Ortega, F., Russo, G.L., Petrik, D., Deshpande, A., Heinrich, C., Karow, M., Robertson, S.P., *et al.* (2016). Identification and Successful Negotiation of a Metabolic Checkpoint in Direct Neuronal Reprogramming. Cell Stem Cell *18*, 396-409.
- Ge, S., Yang, C.H., Hsu, K.S., Ming, G.L., and Song, H. (2007). A critical period for enhanced synaptic plasticity in newly generated neurons of the adult brain. Neuron *54*, 559-566.

- Ge, W.P., Miyawaki, A., Gage, F.H., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (2012). Local generation of glia is a major astrocyte source in postnatal cortex. Nature 484, 376-380.
- Goncalves, J.T., Bloyd, C.W., Shtrahman, M., Johnston, S.T., Schafer, S.T., Parylak, S.L., Tran, T., Chang, T., and Gage, F.H. (2016a). In vivo imaging of dendritic pruning in dentate granule cells. Nat Neurosci *19*, 788-791.
- Goncalves, J.T., Schafer, S.T., and Gage, F.H. (2016b). Adult Neurogenesis in the Hippocampus: From Stem Cells to Behavior. Cell *167*, 897-914.
- Goritz, C., Dias, D.O., Tomilin, N., Barbacid, M., Shupliakov, O., and Frisen, J. (2011). A pericyte origin of spinal cord scar tissue. Science *333*, 238-242.
- Gotts, J.E., and Chesselet, M.F. (2005). Mechanisms of subventricular zone expansion after focal cortical ischemic injury. J Comp Neurol 488, 201-214.
- Gotz, M., Nakafuku, M., and Petrik, D. (2016). Neurogenesis in the Developing and Adult Brain-Similarities and Key Differences. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 8.
- Gotz, S., Bribian, A., Lopez-Mascaraque, L., Gotz, M., Grothe, B., and Kunz, L. (2021). Heterogeneity of astrocytes: Electrophysiological properties of juxtavascular astrocytes before and after brain injury. Glia *69*, 346-361.
- Gould, E. (2007). How widespread is adult neurogenesis in mammals? Nat Rev Neurosci δ , 481-488.
- Grande, A., Sumiyoshi, K., Lopez-Juarez, A., Howard, J., Sakthivel, B., Aronow, B., Campbell, K., and Nakafuku, M. (2013). Environmental impact on direct neuronal reprogramming in vivo in the adult brain. Nat Commun *4*, 2373.
- Graybuck, L.T., Daigle, T.L., Sedeno-Cortes, A.E., Walker, M., Kalmbach, B., Lenz, G.H., Morin, E., Nguyen, T.N., Garren, E., Bendrick, J.L., *et al.* (2021). Enhancer viruses for combinatorial cell-subclass-specific labeling. Neuron *109*, 1449-1464 e1413.
- Guo, Z., Zhang, L., Wu, Z., Chen, Y., Wang, F., and Chen, G. (2014). In vivo direct reprogramming of reactive glial cells into functional neurons after brain injury and in an Alzheimer's disease model. Cell Stem Cell *14*, 188-202.
- Guttenplan, K.A., and Liddelow, S.A. (2019). Astrocytes and microglia: Models and tools. J Exp Med *216*, 71-83.
- Guttenplan, K.A., Weigel, M.K., Prakash, P., Wijewardhane, P.R., Hasel, P., Rufen-Blanchette, U., Munch, A.E., Blum, J.A., Fine, J., Neal, M.C., *et al.* (2021). Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes induce cell death via saturated lipids. Nature.
- Habib, N., Avraham-Davidi, I., Basu, A., Burks, T., Shekhar, K., Hofree, M., Choudhury, S.R., Aguet, F., Gelfand, E., Ardlie, K., *et al.* (2017). Massively parallel single-nucleus RNA-seq with DroNc-seq. Nat Methods *14*, 955-958.
- Hagemann-Jensen, M., Ziegenhain, C., Chen, P., Ramskold, D., Hendriks, G.J., Larsson, A.J.M., Faridani, O.R., and Sandberg, R. (2020). Single-cell RNA counting at allele and isoform resolution using Smart-seq3. Nat Biotechnol *38*, 708-714.
- Han, R.T., Kim, R.D., Molofsky, A.V., and Liddelow, S.A. (2021). Astrocyte-immune cell interactions in physiology and pathology. Immunity *54*, 211-224.
- Hard, J., Al Hakim, E., Kindblom, M., Bjorklund, A.K., Sennblad, B., Demirci, I., Paterlini, M., Reu, P., Borgstrom, E., Stahl, P.L., *et al.* (2019). Conbase: a software for unsupervised

- discovery of clonal somatic mutations in single cells through read phasing. Genome Biol 20, 68.
- Harris, L., Rigo, P., Stiehl, T., Gaber, Z.B., Austin, S.H.L., Masdeu, M.D.M., Edwards, A., Urban, N., Marciniak-Czochra, A., and Guillemot, F. (2021). Coordinated changes in cellular behavior ensure the lifelong maintenance of the hippocampal stem cell population. Cell Stem Cell *28*, 863-876 e866.
- Hasel, P., Rose, I.V.L., Sadick, J.S., Kim, R.D., and Liddelow, S.A. (2021). Neuroinflammatory astrocyte subtypes in the mouse brain. Nat Neurosci *24*, 1475-1487.
- Hauser, R.A., Sandberg, P.R., Freeman, T.B., and Stoessl, A.J. (2002). Bilateral human fetal striatal transplantation in Huntington's disease. Neurology *58*, 1704; author reply 1704.
- Heinrich, C., Bergami, M., Gascon, S., Lepier, A., Vigano, F., Dimou, L., Sutor, B., Berninger, B., and Gotz, M. (2014). Sox2-mediated conversion of NG2 glia into induced neurons in the injured adult cerebral cortex. Stem Cell Reports *3*, 1000-1014.
- Heinrich, C., Gascon, S., Masserdotti, G., Lepier, A., Sanchez, R., Simon-Ebert, T., Schroeder, T., Gotz, M., and Berninger, B. (2011). Generation of subtype-specific neurons from postnatal astroglia of the mouse cerebral cortex. Nat Protoc *6*, 214-228.
- Heins, N., Malatesta, P., Cecconi, F., Nakafuku, M., Tucker, K.L., Hack, M.A., Chapouton, P., Barde, Y.A., and Gotz, M. (2002). Glial cells generate neurons: the role of the transcription factor Pax6. Nat Neurosci 5, 308-315.
- Herrera, D.G., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1999). Adult-derived neural precursors transplanted into multiple regions in the adult brain. Ann Neurol *46*, 867-877.
- Herrero-Navarro, A., Puche-Aroca, L., Moreno-Juan, V., Sempere-Ferrandez, A., Espinosa, A., Susin, R., Torres-Masjoan, L., Leyva-Diaz, E., Karow, M., Figueres-Onate, M., *et al.* (2021). Astrocytes and neurons share region-specific transcriptional signatures that confer regional identity to neuronal reprogramming. Sci Adv 7.
- Hochgerner, H., Zeisel, A., Lonnerberg, P., and Linnarsson, S. (2018). Conserved properties of dentate gyrus neurogenesis across postnatal development revealed by single-cell RNA sequencing. Nat Neurosci *21*, 290-299.
- Hochstim, C., Deneen, B., Lukaszewicz, A., Zhou, Q., and Anderson, D.J. (2008). Identification of positionally distinct astrocyte subtypes whose identities are specified by a homeodomain code. Cell *133*, 510-522.
- Hou, S.W., Wang, Y.Q., Xu, M., Shen, D.H., Wang, J.J., Huang, F., Yu, Z., and Sun, F.Y. (2008). Functional integration of newly generated neurons into striatum after cerebral ischemia in the adult rat brain. Stroke *39*, 2837-2844.
- Huang, A.Y., Woo, J., Sardar, D., Lozzi, B., Bosquez Huerta, N.A., Lin, C.J., Felice, D., Jain, A., Paulucci-Holthauzen, A., and Deneen, B. (2020). Region-Specific Transcriptional Control of Astrocyte Function Oversees Local Circuit Activities. Neuron *106*, 992-1008 e1009.
- Huang, W., Zhao, N., Bai, X., Karram, K., Trotter, J., Goebbels, S., Scheller, A., and Kirchhoff, F. (2014). Novel NG2-CreERT2 knock-in mice demonstrate heterogeneous differentiation potential of NG2 glia during development. Glia *62*, 896-913.
- Ihrie, R.A., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2011). Lake-front property: a unique germinal niche by the lateral ventricles of the adult brain. Neuron 70, 674-686.

Ihrie, R.A., Shah, J.K., Harwell, C.C., Levine, J.H., Guinto, C.D., Lezameta, M., Kriegstein, A.R., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2011). Persistent sonic hedgehog signaling in adult brain determines neural stem cell positional identity. Neuron 71, 250-262.

Jablonska, B., Aguirre, A., Raymond, M., Szabo, G., Kitabatake, Y., Sailor, K.A., Ming, G.L., Song, H., and Gallo, V. (2010). Chordin-induced lineage plasticity of adult SVZ neuroblasts after demyelination. Nat Neurosci *13*, 541-550.

Kalamakis, G., Brune, D., Ravichandran, S., Bolz, J., Fan, W., Ziebell, F., Stiehl, T., Catala-Martinez, F., Kupke, J., Zhao, S., *et al.* (2019). Quiescence Modulates Stem Cell Maintenance and Regenerative Capacity in the Aging Brain. Cell *176*, 1407-1419 e1414.

Kamimoto, K., Hoffmann, C.M., and Morris, S.A. (2020). CellOracle: Dissecting cell identity via network inference and in silico gene perturbation. bioRxiv, 2020.2002.2017.947416.

Kaneko, N., Herranz-Perez, V., Otsuka, T., Sano, H., Ohno, N., Omata, T., Nguyen, H.B., Thai, T.Q., Nambu, A., Kawaguchi, Y., *et al.* (2018). New neurons use Slit-Robo signaling to migrate through the glial meshwork and approach a lesion for functional regeneration. Sci Adv 4, eaav0618.

Kang, J., Hu, J., Karra, R., Dickson, A.L., Tornini, V.A., Nachtrab, G., Gemberling, M., Goldman, J.A., Black, B.L., and Poss, K.D. (2016). Modulation of tissue repair by regeneration enhancer elements. Nature *532*, 201-206.

Kaplan, M.S., and Hinds, J.W. (1977). Neurogenesis in the adult rat: electron microscopic analysis of light radioautographs. Science *197*, 1092-1094.

Karow, M., Camp, J.G., Falk, S., Gerber, T., Pataskar, A., Gac-Santel, M., Kageyama, J., Brazovskaja, A., Garding, A., Fan, W., *et al.* (2018). Direct pericyte-to-neuron reprogramming via unfolding of a neural stem cell-like program. Nat Neurosci *21*, 932-940.

Kawaguchi, D., Furutachi, S., Kawai, H., Hozumi, K., and Gotoh, Y. (2013). Dll1 maintains quiescence of adult neural stem cells and segregates asymmetrically during mitosis. Nat Commun *4*, 1880.

Kelley, K.W., Ben Haim, L., Schirmer, L., Tyzack, G.E., Tolman, M., Miller, J.G., Tsai, H.H., Chang, S.M., Molofsky, A.V., Yang, Y., *et al.* (2018). Kir4.1-Dependent Astrocyte-Fast Motor Neuron Interactions Are Required for Peak Strength. Neuron *98*, 306-319 e307.

Kempermann, G., Gage, F.H., Aigner, L., Song, H., Curtis, M.A., Thuret, S., Kuhn, H.G., Jessberger, S., Frankland, P.W., Cameron, H.A., *et al.* (2018). Human Adult Neurogenesis: Evidence and Remaining Questions. Cell Stem Cell *23*, 25-30.

Kester, L., and van Oudenaarden, A. (2018). Single-Cell Transcriptomics Meets Lineage Tracing. Cell Stem Cell *23*, 166-179.

Kettenmann, H., and Verkhratsky, A. (2008). Neuroglia: the 150 years after. Trends Neurosci 31, 653-659.

Khakh, B.S., and Deneen, B. (2019). The Emerging Nature of Astrocyte Diversity. Annu Rev Neurosci 42, 187-207.

Kikuchi, T., Morizane, A., Doi, D., Magotani, H., Onoe, H., Hayashi, T., Mizuma, H., Takara, S., Takahashi, R., Inoue, H., *et al.* (2017). Human iPS cell-derived dopaminergic neurons function in a primate Parkinson's disease model. Nature *548*, 592-596.

Kirdajova, D., and Anderova, M. (2020). NG2 cells and their neurogenic potential. Curr Opin Pharmacol 50, 53-60.

- Kirkeby, A., Grealish, S., Wolf, D.A., Nelander, J., Wood, J., Lundblad, M., Lindvall, O., and Parmar, M. (2012). Generation of regionally specified neural progenitors and functional neurons from human embryonic stem cells under defined conditions. Cell Rep *1*, 703-714.
- Kivioja, T., Vaharautio, A., Karlsson, K., Bonke, M., Enge, M., Linnarsson, S., and Taipale, J. (2011). Counting absolute numbers of molecules using unique molecular identifiers. Nat Methods *9*, 72-74.
- Klein, A.M., Mazutis, L., Akartuna, I., Tallapragada, N., Veres, A., Li, V., Peshkin, L., Weitz, D.A., and Kirschner, M.W. (2015). Droplet barcoding for single-cell transcriptomics applied to embryonic stem cells. Cell *161*, 1187-1201.
- Knoth, R., Singec, I., Ditter, M., Pantazis, G., Capetian, P., Meyer, R.P., Horvat, V., Volk, B., and Kempermann, G. (2010). Murine features of neurogenesis in the human hippocampus across the lifespan from 0 to 100 years. PLoS One *5*, e8809.
- Kondo, T., and Raff, M. (2000). Oligodendrocyte precursor cells reprogrammed to become multipotential CNS stem cells. Science 289, 1754-1757.
- Kriegstein, A., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2009). The glial nature of embryonic and adult neural stem cells. Annu Rev Neurosci *32*, 149-184.
- Kriks, S., Shim, J.W., Piao, J., Ganat, Y.M., Wakeman, D.R., Xie, Z., Carrillo-Reid, L., Auyeung, G., Antonacci, C., Buch, A., *et al.* (2011). Dopamine neurons derived from human ES cells efficiently engraft in animal models of Parkinson's disease. Nature *480*, 547-551.
- Kuhn, H.G., and Cooper-Kuhn, C.M. (2007). Bromodeoxyuridine and the detection of neurogenesis. Curr Pharm Biotechnol *8*, 127-131.
- Kuhn, H.G., Toda, T., and Gage, F.H. (2018). Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis: A Coming-of-Age Story. J Neurosci *38*, 10401-10410.
- Kyritsis, N., Kizil, C., Zocher, S., Kroehne, V., Kaslin, J., Freudenreich, D., Iltzsche, A., and Brand, M. (2012). Acute inflammation initiates the regenerative response in the adult zebrafish brain. Science *338*, 1353-1356.
- La Manno, G., Siletti, K., Furlan, A., Gyllborg, D., Vinsland, E., Mossi Albiach, A., Mattsson Langseth, C., Khven, I., Lederer, A.R., Dratva, L.M., *et al.* (2021). Molecular architecture of the developing mouse brain. Nature *596*, 92-96.
- La Manno, G., Soldatov, R., Zeisel, A., Braun, E., Hochgerner, H., Petukhov, V., Lidschreiber, K., Kastriti, M.E., Lonnerberg, P., Furlan, A., *et al.* (2018). RNA velocity of single cells. Nature *560*, 494-498.
- Ladewig, J., Koch, P., and Brustle, O. (2014). Auto-attraction of neural precursors and their neuronal progeny impairs neuronal migration. Nat Neurosci 17, 24-26.
- Lange Canhos, L., Chen, M., Falk, S., Popper, B., Straub, T., Gotz, M., and Sirko, S. (2021). Repetitive injury and absence of monocytes promote astrocyte self-renewal and neurological recovery. Glia *69*, 165-181.
- Lanjakornsiripan, D., Pior, B.J., Kawaguchi, D., Furutachi, S., Tahara, T., Katsuyama, Y., Suzuki, Y., Fukazawa, Y., and Gotoh, Y. (2018). Layer-specific morphological and molecular differences in neocortical astrocytes and their dependence on neuronal layers. Nat Commun *9*, 1623.
- Larsson, A.J.M., Johnsson, P., Hagemann-Jensen, M., Hartmanis, L., Faridani, O.R., Reinius, B., Segerstolpe, A., Rivera, C.M., Ren, B., and Sandberg, R. (2019). Genomic encoding of transcriptional burst kinetics. Nature *565*, 251-254.

- Lee, J.H., Kim, J.Y., Noh, S., Lee, H., Lee, S.Y., Mun, J.Y., Park, H., and Chung, W.S. (2021). Astrocytes phagocytose adult hippocampal synapses for circuit homeostasis. Nature *590*, 612-617.
- Li, H., Zhang, N., Lin, H.Y., Yu, Y., Cai, Q.Y., Ma, L., and Ding, S. (2014). Histological, cellular and behavioral assessments of stroke outcomes after photothrombosis-induced ischemia in adult mice. BMC Neurosci *15*, 58.
- Li, J., Pan, L., Pembroke, W.G., Rexach, J.E., Godoy, M.I., Condro, M.C., Alvarado, A.G., Harteni, M., Chen, Y.W., Stiles, L., *et al.* (2021a). Conservation and divergence of vulnerability and responses to stressors between human and mouse astrocytes. Nat Commun *12*, 3958.
- Li, J.Y., Englund, E., Holton, J.L., Soulet, D., Hagell, P., Lees, A.J., Lashley, T., Quinn, N.P., Rehncrona, S., Bjorklund, A., *et al.* (2008a). Lewy bodies in grafted neurons in subjects with Parkinson's disease suggest host-to-graft disease propagation. Nat Med *14*, 501-503.
- Li, L., Harms, K.M., Ventura, P.B., Lagace, D.C., Eisch, A.J., and Cunningham, L.A. (2010). Focal cerebral ischemia induces a multilineage cytogenic response from adult subventricular zone that is predominantly gliogenic. Glia *58*, 1610-1619.
- Li, L., Lundkvist, A., Andersson, D., Wilhelmsson, U., Nagai, N., Pardo, A.C., Nodin, C., Stahlberg, A., Aprico, K., Larsson, K., *et al.* (2008b). Protective role of reactive astrocytes in brain ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab *28*, 468-481.
- Li, W., Englund, E., Widner, H., Mattsson, B., van Westen, D., Latt, J., Rehncrona, S., Brundin, P., Bjorklund, A., Lindvall, O., *et al.* (2016). Extensive graft-derived dopaminergic innervation is maintained 24 years after transplantation in the degenerating parkinsonian brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *113*, 6544-6549.
- Li, Y.E., Preissl, S., Hou, X., Zhang, Z., Zhang, K., Qiu, Y., Poirion, O.B., Li, B., Chiou, J., Liu, H., *et al.* (2021b). An atlas of gene regulatory elements in adult mouse cerebrum. Nature *598*, 129-136.
- Liddelow, S.A., and Barres, B.A. (2017). Reactive Astrocytes: Production, Function, and Therapeutic Potential. Immunity 46, 957-967.
- Liddelow, S.A., Guttenplan, K.A., Clarke, L.E., Bennett, F.C., Bohlen, C.J., Schirmer, L., Bennett, M.L., Munch, A.E., Chung, W.S., Peterson, T.C., *et al.* (2017). Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. Nature *541*, 481-487.
- Liddelow, S.A., and Sofroniew, M.V. (2019). Astrocytes usurp neurons as a disease focus. Nat Neurosci 22, 512-513.
- Lim, D.A., Tramontin, A.D., Trevejo, J.M., Herrera, D.G., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2000). Noggin antagonizes BMP signaling to create a niche for adult neurogenesis. Neuron 28, 713-726.
- Lindvall, O., Brundin, P., Widner, H., Rehncrona, S., Gustavii, B., Frackowiak, R., Leenders, K.L., Sawle, G., Rothwell, J.C., Marsden, C.D., *et al.* (1990). Grafts of fetal dopamine neurons survive and improve motor function in Parkinson's disease. Science *247*, 574-577.
- Liu, F., You, Y., Li, X., Ma, T., Nie, Y., Wei, B., Li, T., Lin, H., and Yang, Z. (2009). Brain injury does not alter the intrinsic differentiation potential of adult neuroblasts. J Neurosci *29*, 5075-5087.

- Liu, Y., Yu, C., Daley, T.P., Wang, F., Cao, W.S., Bhate, S., Lin, X., Still, C., 2nd, Liu, H., Zhao, D., *et al.* (2018). CRISPR Activation Screens Systematically Identify Factors that Drive Neuronal Fate and Reprogramming. Cell Stem Cell *23*, 758-771 e758.
- Liu, Z., Fan, Y., Won, S.J., Neumann, M., Hu, D., Zhou, L., Weinstein, P.R., and Liu, J. (2007). Chronic treatment with minocycline preserves adult new neurons and reduces functional impairment after focal cerebral ischemia. Stroke *38*, 146-152.
- Liu, Z., Li, Y., Cui, Y., Roberts, C., Lu, M., Wilhelmsson, U., Pekny, M., and Chopp, M. (2014). Beneficial effects of gfap/vimentin reactive astrocytes for axonal remodeling and motor behavioral recovery in mice after stroke. Glia *62*, 2022-2033.
- Llorens-Bobadilla, E., Chell, J.M., Le Merre, P., Wu, Y., Zamboni, M., Bergenstrahle, J., Stenudd, M., Sopova, E., Lundeberg, J., Shupliakov, O., *et al.* (2020). A latent lineage potential in resident neural stem cells enables spinal cord repair. Science *370*.
- Llorens-Bobadilla, E., Zhao, S., Baser, A., Saiz-Castro, G., Zwadlo, K., and Martin-Villalba, A. (2015). Single-Cell Transcriptomics Reveals a Population of Dormant Neural Stem Cells that Become Activated upon Brain Injury. Cell Stem Cell *17*, 329-340.
- Llorens-Martin, M., Jurado-Arjona, J., Avila, J., and Hernandez, F. (2015). Novel connection between newborn granule neurons and the hippocampal CA2 field. Exp Neurol *263*, 285-292.
- Lozzi, B., Huang, T.W., Sardar, D., Huang, A.Y., and Deneen, B. (2020). Regionally Distinct Astrocytes Display Unique Transcription Factor Profiles in the Adult Brain. Front Neurosci 14, 61.
- Lucassen, P.J., Toni, N., Kempermann, G., Frisen, J., Gage, F.H., and Swaab, D.F. (2020). Limits to human neurogenesis-really? Mol Psychiatry *25*, 2207-2209.
- Ludwig, L.S., Lareau, C.A., Ulirsch, J.C., Christian, E., Muus, C., Li, L.H., Pelka, K., Ge, W., Oren, Y., Brack, A., *et al.* (2019). Lineage Tracing in Humans Enabled by Mitochondrial Mutations and Single-Cell Genomics. Cell *176*, 1325-1339 e1322.
- Luzzati, F., De Marchis, S., Fasolo, A., and Peretto, P. (2006). Neurogenesis in the caudate nucleus of the adult rabbit. J Neurosci *26*, 609-621.
- Macosko, E.Z., Basu, A., Satija, R., Nemesh, J., Shekhar, K., Goldman, M., Tirosh, I., Bialas, A.R., Kamitaki, N., Martersteck, E.M., *et al.* (2015). Highly Parallel Genome-wide Expression Profiling of Individual Cells Using Nanoliter Droplets. Cell *161*, 1202-1214.
- Magnusson, J.P., and Frisen, J. (2016). Stars from the darkest night: unlocking the neurogenic potential of astrocytes in different brain regions. Development 143, 1075-1086.
- Magnusson, J.P., Goritz, C., Tatarishvili, J., Dias, D.O., Smith, E.M., Lindvall, O., Kokaia, Z., and Frisen, J. (2014). A latent neurogenic program in astrocytes regulated by Notch signaling in the mouse. Science *346*, 237-241.
- Magnusson, J.P., Zamboni, M., Santopolo, G., Mold, J.E., Barrientos-Somarribas, M., Talavera-Lopez, C., Andersson, B., and Frisen, J. (2020). Activation of a neural stem cell transcriptional program in parenchymal astrocytes. Elife 9.
- Mandai, M., Watanabe, A., Kurimoto, Y., Hirami, Y., Morinaga, C., Daimon, T., Fujihara, M., Akimaru, H., Sakai, N., Shibata, Y., *et al.* (2017). Autologous Induced Stem-Cell-Derived Retinal Cells for Macular Degeneration. N Engl J Med *376*, 1038-1046.
- Marques-Torrejon, M.A., Williams, C.A.C., Southgate, B., Alfazema, N., Clements, M.P., Garcia-Diaz, C., Blin, C., Arranz-Emparan, N., Fraser, J., Gammoh, N., *et al.* (2021). LRIG1 is a gatekeeper to exit from quiescence in adult neural stem cells. Nat Commun *12*, 2594.

McCarthy, K.D., and de Vellis, J. (1980). Preparation of separate astroglial and oligodendroglial cell cultures from rat cerebral tissue. J Cell Biol 85, 890-902.

McGinnis, C.S., Murrow, L.M., and Gartner, Z.J. (2019). DoubletFinder: Doublet Detection in Single-Cell RNA Sequencing Data Using Artificial Nearest Neighbors. Cell Syst 8, 329-337 e324.

Meletis, K., Barnabe-Heider, F., Carlen, M., Evergren, E., Tomilin, N., Shupliakov, O., and Frisen, J. (2008). Spinal cord injury reveals multilineage differentiation of ependymal cells. PLoS Biol *6*, e182.

Mendonca, L.S., Nobrega, C., Hirai, H., Kaspar, B.K., and Pereira de Almeida, L. (2015). Transplantation of cerebellar neural stem cells improves motor coordination and neuropathology in Machado-Joseph disease mice. Brain *138*, 320-335.

Merkle, F.T., Mirzadeh, Z., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2007). Mosaic organization of neural stem cells in the adult brain. Science *317*, 381-384.

Mich, J.K., Graybuck, L.T., Hess, E.E., Mahoney, J.T., Kojima, Y., Ding, Y., Somasundaram, S., Miller, J.A., Kalmbach, B.E., Radaelli, C., *et al.* (2021). Functional enhancer elements drive subclass-selective expression from mouse to primate neocortex. Cell Rep *34*, 108754.

Miller, F.D., and Gauthier, A.S. (2007). Timing is everything: making neurons versus glia in the developing cortex. Neuron *54*, 357-369.

Mimitou, E.P., Lareau, C.A., Chen, K.Y., Zorzetto-Fernandes, A.L., Hao, Y., Takeshima, Y., Luo, W., Huang, T.S., Yeung, B.Z., Papalexi, E., *et al.* (2021). Scalable, multimodal profiling of chromatin accessibility, gene expression and protein levels in single cells. Nat Biotechnol *39*, 1246-1258.

Minge, D., Domingos, C., Unichenko, P., Behringer, C., Pauletti, A., Anders, S., Herde, M.K., Delekate, A., Gulakova, P., Schoch, S., *et al.* (2021). Heterogeneity and Development of Fine Astrocyte Morphology Captured by Diffraction-Limited Microscopy. Front Cell Neurosci *15*, 669280.

Mizrak, D., Levitin, H.M., Delgado, A.C., Crotet, V., Yuan, J., Chaker, Z., Silva-Vargas, V., Sims, P.A., and Doetsch, F. (2019). Single-Cell Analysis of Regional Differences in Adult V-SVZ Neural Stem Cell Lineages. Cell Rep *26*, 394-406 e395.

Molofsky, A.V., Krencik, R., Ullian, E.M., Tsai, H.H., Deneen, B., Richardson, W.D., Barres, B.A., and Rowitch, D.H. (2012). Astrocytes and disease: a neurodevelopmental perspective. Genes Dev *26*, 891-907.

Monje, M.L., Toda, H., and Palmer, T.D. (2003). Inflammatory blockade restores adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Science *302*, 1760-1765.

Moreno-Jimenez, E.P., Flor-Garcia, M., Terreros-Roncal, J., Rabano, A., Cafini, F., Pallas-Bazarra, N., Avila, J., and Llorens-Martin, M. (2019). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis is abundant in neurologically healthy subjects and drops sharply in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Nat Med *25*, 554-560.

Moulson, A.J., Squair, J.W., Franklin, R.J.M., Tetzlaff, W., and Assinck, P. (2021). Diversity of Reactive Astrogliosis in CNS Pathology: Heterogeneity or Plasticity? Front Cell Neurosci 15, 703810.

Nagai, M., Re, D.B., Nagata, T., Chalazonitis, A., Jessell, T.M., Wichterle, H., and Przedborski, S. (2007). Astrocytes expressing ALS-linked mutated SOD1 release factors selectively toxic to motor neurons. Nat Neurosci *10*, 615-622.

Nato, G., Caramello, A., Trova, S., Avataneo, V., Rolando, C., Taylor, V., Buffo, A., Peretto, P., and Luzzati, F. (2015). Striatal astrocytes produce neuroblasts in an excitotoxic model of Huntington's disease. Development *142*, 840-845.

Navarrete, M., and Araque, A. (2014). The Cajal school and the physiological role of astrocytes: a way of thinking. Front Neuroanat *8*, 33.

Network, B.I.C.C. (2021). A multimodal cell census and atlas of the mammalian primary motor cortex. Nature *598*, 86-102.

Nomura, T., Goritz, C., Catchpole, T., Henkemeyer, M., and Frisen, J. (2010). EphB signaling controls lineage plasticity of adult neural stem cell niche cells. Cell Stem Cell 7, 730-743.

Nottebohm, F. (1989). From bird song to neurogenesis. Sci Am 260, 74-79.

Oberheim, N.A., Wang, X., Goldman, S., and Nedergaard, M. (2006). Astrocytic complexity distinguishes the human brain. Trends Neurosci *29*, 547-553.

Obernier, K., Cebrian-Silla, A., Thomson, M., Parraguez, J.I., Anderson, R., Guinto, C., Rodas Rodriguez, J., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2018). Adult Neurogenesis Is Sustained by Symmetric Self-Renewal and Differentiation. Cell Stem Cell *22*, 221-234 e228.

Orre, M., Kamphuis, W., Osborn, L.M., Melief, J., Kooijman, L., Huitinga, I., Klooster, J., Bossers, K., and Hol, E.M. (2014). Acute isolation and transcriptome characterization of cortical astrocytes and microglia from young and aged mice. Neurobiol Aging *35*, 1-14.

Ortega, F., Gascon, S., Masserdotti, G., Deshpande, A., Simon, C., Fischer, J., Dimou, L., Chichung Lie, D., Schroeder, T., and Berninger, B. (2013). Oligodendrogliogenic and neurogenic adult subependymal zone neural stem cells constitute distinct lineages and exhibit differential responsiveness to Wnt signalling. Nat Cell Biol *15*, 602-613.

Osumi-Sutherland, D., Xu, C., Keays, M., Levine, A.P., Kharchenko, P.V., Regev, A., Lein, E., and Teichmann, S.A. (2021). Cell type ontologies of the Human Cell Atlas. Nat Cell Biol *23*, 1129-1135.

Otsu, Y., Couchman, K., Lyons, D.G., Collot, M., Agarwal, A., Mallet, J.M., Pfrieger, F.W., Bergles, D.E., and Charpak, S. (2015). Calcium dynamics in astrocyte processes during neurovascular coupling. Nat Neurosci *18*, 210-218.

Ottone, C., Krusche, B., Whitby, A., Clements, M., Quadrato, G., Pitulescu, M.E., Adams, R.H., and Parrinello, S. (2014). Direct cell-cell contact with the vascular niche maintains quiescent neural stem cells. Nat Cell Biol *16*, 1045-1056.

Overstreet-Wadiche, L.S., Bromberg, D.A., Bensen, A.L., and Westbrook, G.L. (2006). Seizures accelerate functional integration of adult-generated granule cells. J Neurosci *26*, 4095-4103.

Parmar, M., Grealish, S., and Henchcliffe, C. (2020). The future of stem cell therapies for Parkinson disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 21, 103-115.

Peel, A.L., and Klein, R.L. (2000). Adeno-associated virus vectors: activity and applications in the CNS. J Neurosci Methods *98*, 95-104.

- Pereira, M., Birtele, M., Shrigley, S., Benitez, J.A., Hedlund, E., Parmar, M., and Ottosson, D.R. (2017). Direct Reprogramming of Resident NG2 Glia into Neurons with Properties of Fast-Spiking Parvalbumin-Containing Interneurons. Stem Cell Reports *9*, 742-751.
- Perlow, M.J., Freed, W.J., Hoffer, B.J., Seiger, A., Olson, L., and Wyatt, R.J. (1979). Brain grafts reduce motor abnormalities produced by destruction of nigrostriatal dopamine system. Science *204*, 643-647.
- Picelli, S., Bjorklund, A.K., Faridani, O.R., Sagasser, S., Winberg, G., and Sandberg, R. (2013). Smart-seq2 for sensitive full-length transcriptome profiling in single cells. Nat Methods *10*, 1096-1098.
- Picelli, S., Faridani, O.R., Bjorklund, A.K., Winberg, G., Sagasser, S., and Sandberg, R. (2014). Full-length RNA-seq from single cells using Smart-seq2. Nat Protoc *9*, 171-181.
- Pilz, G.A., Bottes, S., Betizeau, M., Jorg, D.J., Carta, S., Simons, B.D., Helmchen, F., and Jessberger, S. (2018). Live imaging of neurogenesis in the adult mouse hippocampus. Science *359*, 658-662.
- Qin, H., He, W., Yang, C., Li, J., Jian, T., Liang, S., Chen, T., Feng, H., Chen, X., Liao, X., *et al.* (2020). Monitoring Astrocytic Ca(2+) Activity in Freely Behaving Mice. Front Cell Neurosci *14*, 603095.
- Qiu, X., Mao, Q., Tang, Y., Wang, L., Chawla, R., Pliner, H.A., and Trapnell, C. (2017). Reversed graph embedding resolves complex single-cell trajectories. Nat Methods *14*, 979-982.
- Rakers, C., Schleif, M., Blank, N., Matuskova, H., Ulas, T., Handler, K., Torres, S.V., Schumacher, T., Tai, K., Schultze, J.L., *et al.* (2019). Stroke target identification guided by astrocyte transcriptome analysis. Glia *67*, 619-633.
- Ratz, M., von Berlin, L., Larsson, L., Martin, M., Westholm, J.O., La Manno, G., Lundeberg, J., and Frisén, J. (2021). Cell types and clonal relations in the mouse brain revealed by single-cell and spatial transcriptomics. bioRxiv, 2021.2008.2031.458418.
- Reinius, B., Mold, J.E., Ramskold, D., Deng, Q., Johnsson, P., Michaelsson, J., Frisen, J., and Sandberg, R. (2016). Analysis of allelic expression patterns in clonal somatic cells by single-cell RNA-seq. Nat Genet 48, 1430-1435.
- Rival, T., Soustelle, L., Strambi, C., Besson, M.T., Iche, M., and Birman, S. (2004). Decreasing glutamate buffering capacity triggers oxidative stress and neuropil degeneration in the Drosophila brain. Curr Biol *14*, 599-605.
- Rivetti di Val Cervo, P., Romanov, R.A., Spigolon, G., Masini, D., Martin-Montanez, E., Toledo, E.M., La Manno, G., Feyder, M., Pifl, C., Ng, Y.H., *et al.* (2017). Induction of functional dopamine neurons from human astrocytes in vitro and mouse astrocytes in a Parkinson's disease model. Nat Biotechnol *35*, 444-452.
- Robel, S., Berninger, B., and Gotz, M. (2011). The stem cell potential of glia: lessons from reactive gliosis. Nat Rev Neurosci *12*, 88-104.
- Rodriguez-Arellano, J.J., Parpura, V., Zorec, R., and Verkhratsky, A. (2016). Astrocytes in physiological aging and Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience *323*, 170-182.
- Rolando, C., Parolisi, R., Boda, E., Schwab, M.E., Rossi, F., and Buffo, A. (2012). Distinct roles of Nogo-a and Nogo receptor 1 in the homeostatic regulation of adult neural stem cell function and neuroblast migration. J Neurosci *32*, 17788-17799.

- Rowitch, D.H., and Kriegstein, A.R. (2010). Developmental genetics of vertebrate glial-cell specification. Nature 468, 214-222.
- Russo, G.L., Sonsalla, G., Natarajan, P., Breunig, C.T., Bulli, G., Merl-Pham, J., Schmitt, S., Giehrl-Schwab, J., Giesert, F., Jastroch, M., *et al.* (2021). CRISPR-Mediated Induction of Neuron-Enriched Mitochondrial Proteins Boosts Direct Glia-to-Neuron Conversion. Cell Stem Cell *28*, 584.
- Sabelstrom, H., Stenudd, M., Reu, P., Dias, D.O., Elfineh, M., Zdunek, S., Damberg, P., Goritz, C., and Frisen, J. (2013). Resident neural stem cells restrict tissue damage and neuronal loss after spinal cord injury in mice. Science *342*, 637-640.
- Sawamoto, K., Wichterle, H., Gonzalez-Perez, O., Cholfin, J.A., Yamada, M., Spassky, N., Murcia, N.S., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., Marin, O., Rubenstein, J.L., *et al.* (2006). New neurons follow the flow of cerebrospinal fluid in the adult brain. Science *311*, 629-632.
- Seifert, G., Henneberger, C., and Steinhauser, C. (2018). Diversity of astrocyte potassium channels: An update. Brain Res Bull *136*, 26-36.
- Seri, B., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., McEwen, B.S., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2001). Astrocytes give rise to new neurons in the adult mammalian hippocampus. J Neurosci 21, 7153-7160.
- Setty, M., Tadmor, M.D., Reich-Zeliger, S., Angel, O., Salame, T.M., Kathail, P., Choi, K., Bendall, S., Friedman, N., and Pe'er, D. (2016). Wishbone identifies bifurcating developmental trajectories from single-cell data. Nat Biotechnol *34*, 637-645.
- Sharma, R., Khristov, V., Rising, A., Jha, B.S., Dejene, R., Hotaling, N., Li, Y., Stoddard, J., Stankewicz, C., Wan, Q., *et al.* (2019). Clinical-grade stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium patch rescues retinal degeneration in rodents and pigs. Sci Transl Med *11*.
- Shimada, I.S., Borders, A., Aronshtam, A., and Spees, J.L. (2011). Proliferating reactive astrocytes are regulated by Notch-1 in the peri-infarct area after stroke. Stroke *42*, 3231-3237.
- Shin, J., Berg, D.A., Zhu, Y., Shin, J.Y., Song, J., Bonaguidi, M.A., Enikolopov, G., Nauen, D.W., Christian, K.M., Ming, G.L., *et al.* (2015). Single-Cell RNA-Seq with Waterfall Reveals Molecular Cascades underlying Adult Neurogenesis. Cell Stem Cell *17*, 360-372.
- Sierra, A., Gottfried-Blackmore, A.C., McEwen, B.S., and Bulloch, K. (2007). Microglia derived from aging mice exhibit an altered inflammatory profile. Glia *55*, 412-424.
- Silva-Vargas, V., Maldonado-Soto, A.R., Mizrak, D., Codega, P., and Doetsch, F. (2016). Age-Dependent Niche Signals from the Choroid Plexus Regulate Adult Neural Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell *19*, 643-652.
- Sirko, S., Behrendt, G., Johansson, P.A., Tripathi, P., Costa, M., Bek, S., Heinrich, C., Tiedt, S., Colak, D., Dichgans, M., *et al.* (2013). Reactive glia in the injured brain acquire stem cell properties in response to sonic hedgehog. [corrected]. Cell Stem Cell *12*, 426-439.
- Slezak, M., Goritz, C., Niemiec, A., Frisen, J., Chambon, P., Metzger, D., and Pfrieger, F.W. (2007). Transgenic mice for conditional gene manipulation in astroglial cells. Glia *55*, 1565-1576.
- Sofroniew, M.V. (2020). Astrocyte Reactivity: Subtypes, States, and Functions in CNS Innate Immunity. Trends Immunol *41*, 758-770.
- Sofroniew, M.V., and Vinters, H.V. (2010). Astrocytes: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol *119*, 7-35.

- Soldner, F., Hockemeyer, D., Beard, C., Gao, Q., Bell, G.W., Cook, E.G., Hargus, G., Blak, A., Cooper, O., Mitalipova, M., *et al.* (2009). Parkinson's disease patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells free of viral reprogramming factors. Cell *136*, 964-977.
- Sorrells, S.F., Paredes, M.F., Cebrian-Silla, A., Sandoval, K., Qi, D., Kelley, K.W., James, D., Mayer, S., Chang, J., Auguste, K.I., *et al.* (2018). Human hippocampal neurogenesis drops sharply in children to undetectable levels in adults. Nature *555*, 377-381.
- Sorrells, S.F., Paredes, M.F., Zhang, Z., Kang, G., Pastor-Alonso, O., Biagiotti, S., Page, C.E., Sandoval, K., Knox, A., Connolly, A., *et al.* (2021). Positive Controls in Adults and Children Support That Very Few, If Any, New Neurons Are Born in the Adult Human Hippocampus. J Neurosci *41*, 2554-2565.
- Soustelle, L., Besson, M.T., Rival, T., and Birman, S. (2002). Terminal glial differentiation involves regulated expression of the excitatory amino acid transporters in the Drosophila embryonic CNS. Dev Biol *248*, 294-306.
- Spalding, K.L., Bergmann, O., Alkass, K., Bernard, S., Salehpour, M., Huttner, H.B., Bostrom, E., Westerlund, I., Vial, C., Buchholz, B.A., *et al.* (2013). Dynamics of hippocampal neurogenesis in adult humans. Cell *153*, 1219-1227.
- Srinivasan, R., Lu, T.Y., Chai, H., Xu, J., Huang, B.S., Golshani, P., Coppola, G., and Khakh, B.S. (2016). New Transgenic Mouse Lines for Selectively Targeting Astrocytes and Studying Calcium Signals in Astrocyte Processes In Situ and In Vivo. Neuron *92*, 1181-1195.
- Stahl, P.L., Salmen, F., Vickovic, S., Lundmark, A., Navarro, J.F., Magnusson, J., Giacomello, S., Asp, M., Westholm, J.O., Huss, M., *et al.* (2016). Visualization and analysis of gene expression in tissue sections by spatial transcriptomics. Science *353*, 78-82.
- Steinbeck, J.A., Choi, S.J., Mrejeru, A., Ganat, Y., Deisseroth, K., Sulzer, D., Mosharov, E.V., and Studer, L. (2015). Optogenetics enables functional analysis of human embryonic stem cell-derived grafts in a Parkinson's disease model. Nat Biotechnol *33*, 204-209.
- Tabebordbar, M., Lagerborg, K.A., Stanton, A., King, E.M., Ye, S., Tellez, L., Krunnfusz, A., Tavakoli, S., Widrick, J.J., Messemer, K.A., *et al.* (2021). Directed evolution of a family of AAV capsid variants enabling potent muscle-directed gene delivery across species. Cell *184*, 4919-4938 e4922.
- Takahashi, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2006). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell *126*, 663-676.
- Tang, F., Barbacioru, C., Wang, Y., Nordman, E., Lee, C., Xu, N., Wang, X., Bodeau, J., Tuch, B.B., Siddiqui, A., *et al.* (2009). mRNA-Seq whole-transcriptome analysis of a single cell. Nat Methods *6*, 377-382.
- Tavazoie, M., Van der Veken, L., Silva-Vargas, V., Louissaint, M., Colonna, L., Zaidi, B., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., and Doetsch, F. (2008). A specialized vascular niche for adult neural stem cells. Cell Stem Cell *3*, 279-288.
- Terreros-Roncal, J., Moreno-Jimenez, E.P., Flor-Garcia, M., Rodriguez-Moreno, C.B., Trinchero, M.F., Cafini, F., Rabano, A., and Llorens-Martin, M. (2021). Impact of neurodegenerative diseases on human adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Science, eabl5163.
- Thored, P., Arvidsson, A., Cacci, E., Ahlenius, H., Kallur, T., Darsalia, V., Ekdahl, C.T., Kokaia, Z., and Lindvall, O. (2006). Persistent production of neurons from adult brain stem cells during recovery after stroke. Stem Cells *24*, 739-747.

- Thored, P., Wood, J., Arvidsson, A., Cammenga, J., Kokaia, Z., and Lindvall, O. (2007). Long-term neuroblast migration along blood vessels in an area with transient angiogenesis and increased vascularization after stroke. Stroke *38*, 3032-3039.
- Tong, C.K., Chen, J., Cebrian-Silla, A., Mirzadeh, Z., Obernier, K., Guinto, C.D., Tecott, L.H., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., Kriegstein, A., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2014). Axonal control of the adult neural stem cell niche. Cell Stem Cell *14*, 500-511.
- Toni, N., Laplagne, D.A., Zhao, C., Lombardi, G., Ribak, C.E., Gage, F.H., and Schinder, A.F. (2008). Neurons born in the adult dentate gyrus form functional synapses with target cells. Nat Neurosci 11, 901-907.
- Torper, O., Ottosson, D.R., Pereira, M., Lau, S., Cardoso, T., Grealish, S., and Parmar, M. (2015). In Vivo Reprogramming of Striatal NG2 Glia into Functional Neurons that Integrate into Local Host Circuitry. Cell Rep *12*, 474-481.
- Trapnell, C., Cacchiarelli, D., Grimsby, J., Pokharel, P., Li, S., Morse, M., Lennon, N.J., Livak, K.J., Mikkelsen, T.S., and Rinn, J.L. (2014). The dynamics and regulators of cell fate decisions are revealed by pseudotemporal ordering of single cells. Nat Biotechnol *32*, 381-386.
- Treutlein, B., Lee, Q.Y., Camp, J.G., Mall, M., Koh, W., Shariati, S.A., Sim, S., Neff, N.F., Skotheim, J.M., Wernig, M., *et al.* (2016). Dissecting direct reprogramming from fibroblast to neuron using single-cell RNA-seq. Nature *534*, 391-395.
- Tsuji, O., Sugai, K., Yamaguchi, R., Tashiro, S., Nagoshi, N., Kohyama, J., Iida, T., Ohkubo, T., Itakura, G., Isoda, M., *et al.* (2019). Concise Review: Laying the Groundwork for a First-In-Human Study of an Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Based Intervention for Spinal Cord Injury. Stem Cells *37*, 6-13.
- Ueno, M., Fujita, Y., Tanaka, T., Nakamura, Y., Kikuta, J., Ishii, M., and Yamashita, T. (2013). Layer V cortical neurons require microglial support for survival during postnatal development. Nat Neurosci *16*, 543-551.
- Urban, N., van den Berg, D.L., Forget, A., Andersen, J., Demmers, J.A., Hunt, C., Ayrault, O., and Guillemot, F. (2016). Return to quiescence of mouse neural stem cells by degradation of a proactivation protein. Science *353*, 292-295.
- Van de Sande, B., Flerin, C., Davie, K., De Waegeneer, M., Hulselmans, G., Aibar, S., Seurinck, R., Saelens, W., Cannoodt, R., Rouchon, Q., *et al.* (2020). A scalable SCENIC workflow for single-cell gene regulatory network analysis. Nat Protoc *15*, 2247-2276.
- van Praag, H., Kempermann, G., and Gage, F.H. (2000). Neural consequences of environmental enrichment. Nat Rev Neurosci *I*, 191-198.
- Verkhratsky, A., and Nedergaard, M. (2018). Physiology of Astroglia. Physiol Rev 98, 239-389.
- Verkhratsky, A., Rodriguez, J.J., and Parpura, V. (2012). Calcium signalling in astroglia. Mol Cell Endocrinol *353*, 45-56.
- Verkhratsky, A., Untiet, V., and Rose, C.R. (2020). Ionic signalling in astroglia beyond calcium. J Physiol *598*, 1655-1670.
- Wagner, D.E., and Klein, A.M. (2020). Lineage tracing meets single-cell omics: opportunities and challenges. Nat Rev Genet *21*, 410-427.
- Wahane, S., and Sofroniew, M.V. (2021). Review article for CTR special issue edited by C. Schachtrup Title of Special Issue: "Modulating scar formation for improving brain repair"

- Loss-of-function manipulations to identify roles of diverse glia and stromal cells during CNS scar formation. Cell Tissue Res.
- Wang, L.L., Serrano, C., Zhong, X., Ma, S., Zou, Y., and Zhang, C.L. (2021). Revisiting astrocyte to neuron conversion with lineage tracing in vivo. Cell *184*, 5465-5481 e5416.
- Wang, X., Mao, X., Xie, L., Sun, F., Greenberg, D.A., and Jin, K. (2012). Conditional depletion of neurogenesis inhibits long-term recovery after experimental stroke in mice. PLoS One 7, e38932.
- Wang, Z., Yao, W., Deng, Q., Zhang, X., and Zhang, J. (2013). Protective effects of BDNF overexpression bone marrow stromal cell transplantation in rat models of traumatic brain injury. J Mol Neurosci 49, 409-416.
- Wanner, I.B., Anderson, M.A., Song, B., Levine, J., Fernandez, A., Gray-Thompson, Z., Ao, Y., and Sofroniew, M.V. (2013). Glial scar borders are formed by newly proliferated, elongated astrocytes that interact to corral inflammatory and fibrotic cells via STAT3-dependent mechanisms after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci *33*, 12870-12886.
- Weinreb, C., Rodriguez-Fraticelli, A., Camargo, F.D., and Klein, A.M. (2020). Lineage tracing on transcriptional landscapes links state to fate during differentiation. Science *367*.
- Wilhelmsson, U., Bushong, E.A., Price, D.L., Smarr, B.L., Phung, V., Terada, M., Ellisman, M.H., and Pekny, M. (2006). Redefining the concept of reactive astrocytes as cells that remain within their unique domains upon reaction to injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 17513-17518.
- Xie, C., Shen, X., Xu, X., Liu, H., Li, F., Lu, S., Gao, Z., Zhang, J., Wu, Q., Yang, D., *et al.* (2020). Astrocytic YAP Promotes the Formation of Glia Scars and Neural Regeneration after Spinal Cord Injury. J Neurosci *40*, 2644-2662.
- Yan, R., Zhang, L., Li, M., Liu, X., Yang, X., and Chen, L. (2018). Hes1 negatively regulates neurogenesis in the adult mouse dentate gyrus following traumatic brain injury. Exp Ther Med *16*, 2267-2274.
- Yao, K., Qiu, S., Wang, Y.V., Park, S.J.H., Mohns, E.J., Mehta, B., Liu, X., Chang, B., Zenisek, D., Crair, M.C., *et al.* (2018). Restoration of vision after de novo genesis of rod photoreceptors in mammalian retinas. Nature *560*, 484-488.
- Zamanian, J.L., Xu, L., Foo, L.C., Nouri, N., Zhou, L., Giffard, R.G., and Barres, B.A. (2012). Genomic analysis of reactive astrogliosis. J Neurosci *32*, 6391-6410.
- Zamboni, M., Llorens-Bobadilla, E., Magnusson, J.P., and Frisen, J. (2020). A Widespread Neurogenic Potential of Neocortical Astrocytes Is Induced by Injury. Cell Stem Cell *27*, 605-617 e605.
- Zeisel, A., Hochgerner, H., Lonnerberg, P., Johnsson, A., Memic, F., van der Zwan, J., Haring, M., Braun, E., Borm, L.E., La Manno, G., *et al.* (2018). Molecular Architecture of the Mouse Nervous System. Cell *174*, 999-1014 e1022.
- Zhang, L., Yin, J.C., Yeh, H., Ma, N.X., Lee, G., Chen, X.A., Wang, Y., Lin, L., Chen, L., Jin, P., *et al.* (2015). Small Molecules Efficiently Reprogram Human Astroglial Cells into Functional Neurons. Cell Stem Cell *17*, 735-747.
- Zhao, C., Teng, E.M., Summers, R.G., Jr., Ming, G.L., and Gage, F.H. (2006). Distinct morphological stages of dentate granule neuron maturation in the adult mouse hippocampus. J Neurosci *26*, 3-11.

- Zhou, H., Liu, J., Zhou, C., Gao, N., Rao, Z., Li, H., Hu, X., Li, C., Yao, X., Shen, X., et al. (2018). In vivo simultaneous transcriptional activation of multiple genes in the brain using CRISPR-dCas9-activator transgenic mice. Nat Neurosci 21, 440-446.
- Zhou, H., Su, J., Hu, X., Zhou, C., Li, H., Chen, Z., Xiao, Q., Wang, B., Wu, W., Sun, Y., *et al.* (2020). Glia-to-Neuron Conversion by CRISPR-CasRx Alleviates Symptoms of Neurological Disease in Mice. Cell *181*, 590-603 e516.
- Zhu, P., Hata, R., Cao, F., Gu, F., Hanakawa, Y., Hashimoto, K., and Sakanaka, M. (2008). Ramified microglial cells promote astrogliogenesis and maintenance of neural stem cells through activation of Stat3 function. FASEB J *22*, 3866-3877.
- Zhu, Y., Sousa, A.M.M., Gao, T., Skarica, M., Li, M., Santpere, G., Esteller-Cucala, P., Juan, D., Ferrandez-Peral, L., Gulden, F.O., *et al.* (2018). Spatiotemporal transcriptomic divergence across human and macaque brain development. Science *362*.
- Zywitza, V., Misios, A., Bunatyan, L., Willnow, T.E., and Rajewsky, N. (2018). Single-Cell Transcriptomics Characterizes Cell Types in the Subventricular Zone and Uncovers Molecular Defects Impairing Adult Neurogenesis. Cell Rep *25*, 2457-2469 e2458.